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SECRETARIAT DIVISION ATHENS STOCK EXCHANGE S A.

SHAREHOLDERS SUBDIVISION LISTED COMPANIES DEPARTMENT
Eolou 93, 102 32 Athens Sofokleous 8-10

010 334 3424 — 010 334 3428 105 59 Athens

010 334 3410

For the attention of Mr Vourvahis
Athens, 24 April 2002

We wish to-inform you that the Bank’s annual Ordinary General Meeting
was held today, 24 April 2002. Among other things, it approved the
financial statements for 2001 and the payment of a dividend of €1.10 per

share.

- Shareholders entitled to the dividend for 2001 are those registered’

today, 24 April 2002, in the records of the Central Securities Depository
S.A. |

The dividend will be paid within two months of its approval at today’s
General Meeting of Shareholders, as provided for by Article 36,
Paragraph 5 of the Articles of Association; the date of payment will be
announced to investors and the Athens Stock Exchange through a
further announcement from us, as provided for by the Law, as well as
through the Press.

As of tomorrow, 25 April 2002, the share shall be traded on an ex-
dividend basis for 2001.

Yours faithfully,
NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE S.A.

A. Tzoulis M. Frousios

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE S.A.
86 Aeolou str., 102 32 Athens Greece
Telephone: 01 3341000 Facsimile: 01 3228187 Telex: 21 4931-38 NBG GR
Registered under No 6062/06/8/86/01
Tax Register No 094014201
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PRESS RELEASE

National Bank of Greece seeks to expand its activities beyond Greek borders and
become a strong banking force in the region of southeast Europe, a strategic goal
backed by its substantial presence and activity in the major international financial
markets. It is thus staking a claim for a new place in the international financial arena.

This was the message of Mr Theodoros Karatzas, Governor of National Bank of
Greece, to the AGM held today. In his speech, he outlined various issues concerning
the Bank, its performance and prospects, which are summarised below:

¢ The Bank believes that it is necessary to increase its size. This, however, does
not constitute an end in itself. We shall therefore remain alert to the
opportunities that may arise in the domestic and the international markets. At
the same time, we shall continue to take all steps necessary to secure
profitability and a robust financial structure for the organisation.

e In 2002, National Bank will also seek to further enhance its presence in retail
banking and its business relationships with SMEs. It may be noted that 2001
was a particularly successful year for the Bank in the retail banking segment.

e Soon we shall announce a series of specific measures aiming at the reduction
of expenses in the domestic and international network of the NBG Group. At
the same time we shall continue to strengthen NBG’s commanding position in
the domestic market and its international business activity.

Mr Karatzas went on to point out that National Bank of Greece as well as other Greek
banks have entered a new phase of activity and profitability within the framework of
Economic and Monetary Union. This adjustment, of course, has been neither a simple
process nor painless. In essence, it compels the sector to change its ideas about easy
and large-scale returns derived from the stock market and the successful convergence
of the Greek economy with the eurozone. 1t is crucial that Greek banks now prove
themselves capable of meeting the challenges that lie ahead. National Bank of Greece,
for its part, will take all steps necessary to meet these challenges successfully.

In this light, therefore, 2001 was a particularly successful year besides the impressive
performance in the retail banking segment. The traditional commanding position that
National Bank of Greece has enjoyed in segments such as housing credit has been
augmented and enhanced by similar performance in consumer credit. Thus, the NBG
Group offered more products to more customers than at any time in the past. The trust
that approximately 5 million customers showed in us was reflected in the fact that
housing and consumer credit represented no less than 46% of our total lending to the
private sector in 2001.

Mr Karatzas also drew attention to the substantial presence and activity of the Bank in

~ the major international financial markets where the total contribution of its

international units to aggregate Group pre-tax profit was more than double the figure
NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE S.A.
86 Aeolou str., 102 32 Athens Greece
Telephone: 01 3341000 Facsimile: 01 3228187 Telex: 21 4931-38 NBG GR
Registered under No 6062/06/B/86/01
Tax Register No 094014201



for 2000, reaching 12.3%. The Bank consistently aims at selectively expanding its
operations in foreign markets and boosting the contribution of these operations to the
Bank’s profits.

Mr Karatzas then went on to discuss last year’s discontinued merger plan with Alpha
Bank:

e It was our belief that the merger would have created a strong financial group.
Unfortunately, for reasons beyond the Bank’s will, the process had to be
discontinued.

¢ The eventual outcome was not due to problems concerning the preparations
for the merger. It is natable, for instance, that the merger of Alpha and
National Bank was brought to a more advanced stage of preparation than is
often the case in similar plans that are announced in the global arena, and
progress had been made in a whole range of crucial issues regarding the union
of the two corporations.

¢ No successful merger plan has managed to announce within the first seven
weeks the final structure of the Board and senior management; the name and
logo of the new organisation; the share ratio of the merging businesses; a
detailed calculation of the synergies that would arise from the merger; or the
allocation of responsibilities among the members of the executive committee.

e The merger with Alpha Bank would have been a positive business move. It
was not, however, essential for the future success of National Bank. We shall
therefore continue with policies designed to ensure that our shareholders will
be participating in a larger and stronger institution.

THE BANK’S RESULTS

In 2001, National Bank’s profits before tax totalled €647.5 million compared with
€874.6 million in 2000, down 26%. This reduction reflects exclusively the decline in
equity trading gains due to the poor stock market climate. For the same reason, Group
profits before tax and after minorities amounted to €698.7 million, compared with
€980.6 million in 2000. This picture, however, does not do justice to the real
performance of the Bank, since if we exclude gains on equity trading from the
comparison, the Bank and the Group in fact present profit growth of 24.5% and
18.5% respectively in 2001.

Given these results, the Management proposes to the AGM a dividend of €1.10 per
share. Total dividends paid out amount to €250.9 million compared with €247.7
million in 2000.

The AGM approved the renewal of the term of office of Governor Mr Karatzas,
Deputy Governor Mr Andreas Vranas and Director Mr G. Tsouyopoulos for another
three years. Furthermore, Messrs D. Daskalopoulos and V. Konstantakopoulos were
elected new members of the Board of Directors.

Athens, 24 April 2002
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Speech by the Governor of National Bank of Greece
Mr Theodoros B. Karatzas
to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
24 April 2002

Each year, the Annual General Meeting gives me the opportunity to speak on
behalf of the Bank’s management about the past business year. I shall focus on the
main developments of the year and the results of the Bank and its Group of
companies. Likewise, I shall outline our thoughts on what the priorities should be in
the immediate future as well as the longer term for the largest financial institution of

the country, of which you are shareholders.

As of 1 January 2001, Greece adopted the new European currency alongside
the eleven other nations of the eurozone, while upon the close of the year euro notes
and coins were successfully launched. It is worth noting that in this momentous
development for our economy National Bank of Greece played a leading role. It
provided substantial assistance in the wider preparation for E-day via its extensive

network, its significant infrastructure and expertise in related systems.

Last year, however, was also accompanied by the appearance of new trends
across the financial sector as a whole — trends comparable with those that have
prevailed in the international markets more generally in recent years. Foreseeing this
shift in the position of the Greek economy and markets, National Bank brought its
structures, business philosophy and goals into line with those of other European and

international banks well in advance of the deadlines.

I believe that National Bank of Greece as well as other Greek banks have
entered a new phase of activity and profitability within the framework of Economic
and Monetary Union. This ad’justment, of course, has been neither a simple process
nor painless. In essence, it has compelled us to change our ideas about easy and large-

scale returns derived from the stock market and the successful convergence of the

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE S.A.
86 Aeolou str., 102 32 Athens Greece
Telephone: 01 3341000 Facsimile: 01 3228187 Telex: 21 4931-38 NBG GR
Registered under NoJ6062/06/B/86/01
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Greek economy with the eurozone. It is crucial that Greek banks now prove
themselves capable of meeting the challenges that lie ahead. I can assure you that
National Bank of Greece is both capable and determined to do so. Our performance of

recent years is evidence of this.

A significant contributing factor in our efforts will be the health and
dynamism of the Greek economy. The past year was the sixth consecutive year in
which the Greek economy grew at a significantly faster pace than the average of the
European Union, at 4.1 per cent. Seen 1n this light, the Greek economy appears to
constitute one of the exceptions to the general international trend, which saw a
slowdown in growth for the first time in many years. As was to be expected, these
general developments left their mark on various segments of the Greek financial

sector that are exposed to fluctuations in the global capital markets.

Within this unfolding economic context, National Bank of Greece stood by its
commitment to enhance shareholder value, making every effort to design and realise

the best possible strategic goals for the Bank and its Group.

This was the rationale behind the announcement, on 1 November 2001, of our
intention to merge with Alpha Bank. It was our conviction that such a move would
create a financial group armed with the strength to perform in the increasingly
competitive international markets. Unfortunately, despite concerted efforts on the part
of management to make the merger plan succeed, we ultimately decided that the -

process had to be discontinued.

I would like to take this opportunity to make it clear that the outcome was due
less to problems concerning the preparations for the merger, and more to
developments in the negotiation process. It is notable, for instance, that the merger of
Alpha and National Bank had been brought to a more advanced stage of preparation,
both at the time of and immediately following the merger announcement, than is often
the case in similar plans that are announced in the global arena, and progress had been

made in a whole range of crucial issues regarding the union of the two corporations.



No successful merger plan has managed to announce within the first seven
weeks the final structure of the Board and senior management; the name and logo of
the new organisation; the share exchange ratio of the merging businesses; a detailed
calculation of the synergies that would arise from the merger; or the allocation of

responsibilities among the members of the executive committee.

The merger with Alpha Bank would have been a positive business move. It
was not, however, essential for our future course, since our ability and determination
to carry through our key strategic aims remain unchanged. We shall therefore
continue with policies designed to ensure that you will be a shareholder in a larger
and stroﬂger-institution that leads the domestic market and achieves solid results

internationally.

This goal is not only served by strategic moves. It is also served by consistent
and productive organic growth of the Bank and its Group. In this light therefore, 1
should stress that 2001 was a particularly successful year, since the Bank once again

saw impressive performance in the retail banking segment.

Thus, the traditional commanding position that National Bank of Greece has
enjoyed in segments such as housing credit has been augmented and enhanced by
similar performance in consumer credit. In 2001, the NBG Group offered more
products to more customers than at any time in the past. The trust that approximately
5 million customers showed in us was reflected in the fact that mortgage and
consumer credit represented no less than 46% of our total lending to the private sector
in 2001. One of the key pillars of our business remains the strong and growing deposit
base, which speaks for the confidence that the major part of the banking public has in

us.

We are fully aware that to sustain and strengthen our performance we must
endeavour to forge ever more efficient management of the financial needs of our
customers. To this end, the Bank accelerated the reorganisation of its branch network:
by the end of 2001, no less than 170 new-generation branches were in operation,
producing results that promis’e much for the immediate future, in terms of both quality

of service and level of sales.



We could hardly attempt to grow our operations and compete in today’s
market without placing special emphasis on the constant development and
modernisation of our infrastructures. Over the period 1999-2001, substantial funds
were invested in our technology infrastructure. This is one of the reasons why the
Bank and its Group switched so smoothly to the euro environment last year.

Similarly, a new integrated customer relationship administration platform was
launched across the network last year, whose application will be extended to the entire
spectrum of the Bank’s products and services, thereby improving customer service all

round.

In 2001, there was also significant progress in the Bank’s policy of divesting
itself of non-strategic shareholdings and real estate assets. Indeed, last year the Group
disposed of a large number of non-core properties, achieving the best results of the
last few years. Although adverse financial conditions did not favour any further
divestment of the Group’s non-strategic shareholdings in 2001, the Bank nevertheless
succeeded, between 1996 and 2001, in disposing of non-strategic assets totalling
approximately €1 billion. Our policy has consistently aimed at returning the gains
from these assets to the shareholder, by channelling the funds raised through their sale
to more productive activities. To achieve this goal, however, conditions should allow

divestment at a price which fdirly reflects the assets’ value.

The Bank consistently places much of its investment focus on its workforce,
given that banking activities are a labour-intensive business. National Bank of Greece
sees its human resources as a key to successful business growth and therefore attaches
particular importance to making sure its staff is equipped with the personal and
intellectual skills to enable the Bank to move forward dynamically. To this end, there
is systematic provision of staff training, while new recruits to the Bank’s workforce
are carefully selected to ensure the best possible performance in specific areas of the
Bank’s business. It may be noted that in 2001 the Bank invested €4.8 million in

training and education for its staff.

In addition, the Bank invests in systems that ensure prudent management of

the risks undertaken by the Bank and the Group. We attach particular importance to



obtaining and enhancing appropriate expertise in this field, as well as to reinforcing a
comprehensive infrastructure that supports the crucial sphere of the Bank’s internal

control systems.

For several years now, the Bank has demonstrated its desire to expand beyond
Greek borders and become a strong regional banking force whose range will extend to
southeast Europe. This strategic goal is backed by our substantial presence and
activity in the major international financial markets. Last year our international
presence was significantly enhanced through the acquisition of Yonkers Financial
Corporation by our US subsidiary Atlantic Bank of New York, as well as by the

launch of our banking operations in Serbia.

It should be pointed out, however, that in spite of any social or political
problems experienced in some of the economies of the region wherein we operate, the
total contribution of our international units to aggregate Group pre-tax profit was

more than double the figure for 2000, reaching 12.3%.

The Bank always aims at selectively expanding its operations in foreign
markets and boosting the contribution of these operations to the Bank’s profits. To
safeguard, however, both the quality of our portfolio and our shareholders’ interests,

we always ensure that the risks undertaken abroad are strictly monitored.
Ladies and Gentlemen,

In 2001, National Bank’s profits before tax totalled €647.5 million compared
with €874.6 million in 2000, down 26%. This reduction reflects exclusively the
decline in equity trading gains due to the poor stock market climate. For the same
reason, Group profits before tax and after minorities amounted to €698.7 million,
compared with €980.6 million in 2000. This picture, however, does not do justice to
the real performance of the Bank, since if we exclude gains on equity trading from the
comparison, the Bank and the Group in fact present profit growth of 24.5% and
18.5% respectively in 2001.



It should be pointed out that this result includes the substantial additional cost
incurred by the Bank to secure smooth transition to the euro, a cost which will also

burden the results of the current year.

I would like to call your attention to the fact that our aggregate performance is
in line with the overall performance of the European banking sector. This may not at
first seem obvious, particularly as we have become accustomed to the high levels of
profitability that were achieved during the successful period of convergence. Now,
however, we need to accept that our basis for comparison should be the mature
European banking industry and the large credit institutions that this industry
encompaése&,.l believe that when we compare National Bank of Greece with these
institutions, our return on equity and cost/income ratio are higher than the average

figure for Europe.

Given these results, the Management proposes to the Annual General Meeting
a dividend of €1.10 per share, compared with last year’s dividend of €1.09 per share.
Total dividends paid out amount to €250.9 million compared with €247.7 million in
2000.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

I think this is an appropriate moment for us to look ahead to decide on the
course that the Bank should now follow. If I were asked to identify the distinctive-
feature which has characterised us so far and will continue to do so in the years to
come, I would say that it is our desire to take innovative business risks, and thus
implement policies aiming to enhance the Bank’s leading role and its future within the

increasingly competitive international arena.

This desire motivated the first phase of our strategic plan (1996-1998), which
led to the Bank’s restructuring and rehabilitation, a target that many considered
unattainable. Prior to the implementation of this plan, many would have thought it
unlikely that the Bank would go on to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange, and

that it would attain its present status. And yet this is what we did.



We followed the same approach during the next three-year phase (1999-2001)
of the strategic plan when, on completion of NBG’s restructuring, we focused on
repositioning the Bank on the domestic and foreign markets. Today, the NBG Group
has managed to both establish a leading position in fast-growing segments such as
retail banking and retain its traditional role as the bank of the large Greek corporates
and Shipping. National Bank has also reestablished itself on the international financial
map as an organisation with a strong regional identity in southeast Europe and a

substantial presence in the major international financial centres.

Looking ahead, the Management and I personally, as the Governor of National
Bank, are fully aware of our responsibility for the steps to be taken next. The Bank’s
Management and officers are motivated by the same desire to pursue excellence and
success for our organisation that ensured the success of our previous efforts. This
same spirit will enable us to take any action necessary to give our current efforts also

a successful outcome, no matter how arduous or demanding they may be.

As already mentioned, we remain committed to our belief that it is necessary
to provide for further growth in National Bank’s size. Although we would never allow
such an objective to become an end in itself, as this might undermine the Bank’s
future status and jeopardise your interests, we cannot ignore the international
developments and changes that have transformed the banking sector worldwide. Even
if the pace of these developments has been temporarily checked by the recent
slowdown of the world economy, the mergers of major financial institutions have
radically changed the framework of international competition and imposed more
demanding requirements on those seeking to pursue a viable future in the international

arena.

This is the future we aspire to secure for National Bank; if we settled for less
we would only allow it to lag behind its international competitors and condemn it to
decline. We shall therefore remain alert to the opportunities that may arise in the
domestic and the international markets. This prospect, however, cannot be secured by
a proper knowledge of the economic environment alone; it also requires that the Bank

develop an appropriate business structure and operational flexibility.



National Bank shall continue to diagnose the trends prevailing in the
international economic environment and take all steps necessary to secure profitability
and a robust financial structure. Having capitalised on the convergence process along
with the other Greek banks, National Bank has for some time now focused its efforts

on reducing costs, and at the same time on growing its business in various segments.

I hope that we will soon be in a position to announce a series of specific
measures aiming at the reduction of expenses in the domestic and international
network of the NBG Group. This will not be a hasty move, but rather a necessary
precondition for the creation of shareholder value over the long-term and an
indication of our determination to effectively adapt to the changing global

macroeconomic environment.

Along with the implementation of measures to reduce costs, we shall continue
to strengthen NBG’s commanding position in the domestic market and its
international business activity. In 2002, National Bank shall also seek to further

enhance its presence and performance in the retail banking segment.

As part of our retail banking strategy, we recently set up a new Small
Enterprises Loans Division. Developing our business relationship with small and
medium-size enterprises is a cornerstone of our policy for the current year and will be
founded on central risk control procedures and a uniform marketing and sales policy,

as has been successfully applied to our products and services in the past.

In 2002, we shall continue to focus on areas such as Bancassurance and
Affluent Banking, which are developing a new dynamic in the domestic market, as
well as on the new requirements of Asset Management operations. National Bank
aspires to establish a commanding position in these areas as well, thus generating new

sources of profitability and shareholder value.
Ladies and Gentlemen,

From a certain perspéctive, the years 2001 and 2002 have been particularly

difficult, as they have coincided with the transition of the Greek financial sector to a



new state of maturity and more intense competition on the international front. In
dealing with the challenges of this difficult period our efforts will be greatly
supported by the reaffirmation of our shareholders’ confidence. After all, this
constitutes the basis of our long-standing relationship, which is built on the highest
possible degree of transparency, flexible management and the systematic and

unswerving implementation of a strategic vision for National Bank.

" This relationship will continue to be a source of energy and strength for us to

implement our strategic plans for the future of the Bank and the Group.

Along with you, our shareholders, the Bank’s staff and clientele will also stand

by our side as we take our next, critical steps.

In closing, I wish to express my thanks to the Bank’s staff and customers for
their support and confidence all these years, for it is thanks to their trust and loyalty
that National Bank of Greece is able to claim its new place in the international

financial arena.

Thank you.
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SECRETARIAT - BANK’S SHARES

Please be advised that the Ordinary General Meeting of our Bank’s Shareholders held
on 24" April 2002, approved the proposals 1, 2,3,4,5,6,7, 8,12, 13, 15.

The voting of proposals 9, 10l, 11 and 14 was postponed due to lack of quorum.

The Repeat General Meeting will be held on 09-05-2002. As soon as the new Agenda
is released, we will inform you accordingly.

The A.GM. approved the renewal of the term of the Office of Governor Mr.
Karatzas, Deputy Governor Mr. Andreas Vranas and Director Mr. G. Tsouyopoulos
for another three years. Furthermore, Messrs. D. Daskalopoulos and V.
Konstantakopoulos were elected new members of the Board of Directors.

Athens, 24™ April 2002

Yours faithfully,
NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE S A.

D. Kanellopoulou N Dimolitsas

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE S.A.
86 Aeoclou str., 102 32 Athens Greece
Telephone: 61 3341000 Facsimile: 01 3228187 Telex: 21 4931-38 NBG GR
Registered under No 6062/06/8/86/01
Tax Register No 094014201
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INVITATION TO THE BANK’S REPEAT GENERAL MEETING
OF SHAREHOLDERS

TO BE HELD ON THURSDAY, 9 MAY 2002, AT 10:30

‘Pursuant to the provisions for Sociétés Anonymes (Cod. Law 2190/ 1920) and for de-
materialised shares (Law 2396/96), to the Bank’s Articles of Association (Article 11) and
to the National Bank’s Board of Directors’ resolution dated 24 April 2002, the Sharehold-

ers of National Bank of Greece S.A., a banking Société Anonyme with its Head Office at

Eolou 86, Athens, Greece, are invited to the Bank’s Repeat General Meeting 10 be held at
10:30 on Thursday, 9 May 2002 at Eolou 93 (Megaro Mela), Athens, with the following

agenda:

1.

Denomination of the nominal value of the Bank’s share and share capital solely in
euro (as per law 2842/2000). Amendment to Articles 4 and 39 of the Bank’s Arti-

cles of Association to reflect the said denomination.

. Amendment to Articles 2 (duration), 3 (object of activities), 5 (sharz capital in-

crease and bond issue), 6 (shares and allocation of shares to the staff as an option),
9, 10, 11, 12, 15 (povs;ers and authorities, convocation and constitution of, and
adoption of resolutions by, the General Meeting of Shareholders), 19 (election of
Directors), 23 (powers and authorities of the Board of Directors) 25, 27 (convoca-
tion and meetings of the Board of Directors), 31, 32 (minority rights). 33, 35 (an-
nual financial statements) and 38 (liquidation) of the Bank’s Articles of Associa-
tion. Repeal of Articles 41 and 42 (transitional provisions) of the Bank’s Articles of
Association. Addition of new Articles 41 and 42 (transitional provisions) to the

Bank’s Articles of Association.

Modification and codification of the Bank’s Articles of Association. Re-formulation
of the Preamble thereof. Amendment to Article 43 par. 1 of the Bank’s Articles of

Association pursuant to the codification, and repeal of par. 2 of the said Article.

4. Approval of bond or subordinated bond loan(s) issue.

NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE S.A.
86 Aeolou str., 102 32 Athens Greece
Telephone: 01 3341000 Facsimile: 01 3228187 Telex: 21 4931-38 NBG GR
Registered under No 6062/06/B/86/01
Tax Register No 094014201



According to the law and the Bank’s Articles of Association, Shareholders who wish to

participate in the General Meeting in person or by proxy should proceed as follows:

1. Shareholders of dematerialised shares not held in the Special Securities Account
with the Central Securities Depository S.A. will have their shares blocked, in all or
in part, via their Securities Account Operators. Shareholders will subsequently
submit the relevant certification issued by the Central Securities Depository S A.
and supplied to them by their Securities Account Operators to the Bank (Head Of-
fice and network Branches or the Shareholders Department in Athens at Eolou 93)

at least five (5) days before the General Meeting (i.e. by 2 May 2002).

2. Shareholders of dematerialised shares which are held with the Central Securities
Depository S.A. in the Special Securities Account will have their shares blocked in
all or in part directly through the Central Securities Depository, by written declara-
tion; the relevant certification issued to the Shareholders by the above institution
will subsequently have to be submitted by them to the Bank (Head Office and
Branches or the Shareholders Department in Athens at Eolou 93) at least five (5)
days before the General Meeting, (i.e. by 2 May 2002).

3. Shareholders of non-dematerialised shares or depository documents will have to
deposit them with the Bank (Head Office and Branches), or with the Deposit and
Loans Fund or with any banking corporation in Greece at least five (5) days before
the General Meeting (i.e. by 2 May 2002). Shareholders abroad will deposit their
shares with any local NBG Unit (Branch or Representative Office), as applicable,
otherwise with any other accredited bank and ensure that the relevant share deposit

receipts are submitted to the Bank by the above deadline.

Shareholders who are legal entities should further submit their legalisation docu-

ments to the Bank, according to the law, within the same time limits as above, unless



" they have already been supplied to an NBG Unit, in which case they will only have to
specify in their proxy the NBG Unit with which their documents are held.
In the event that Shareholders wish to be represented by proxy, their representation

documents should be submitted to the Bank by 2 May 2002 also.

For their convenience, Shareholders who wish to participate in the Gencral Meeting
are also offered the option to authorise the Bank to block their shares on their behalf, in
which case they are requested to contact the Shareholders Department (Tel. Nos +30
(0)103343414, 16, 21, 24, 26, 28, 60, 94, 1181, 1182, and fax nos +30 (0)103343404, 06
and 10). "

Athens, 24 April 2002
By order of the Board of Directors
THE CHAIRMAN - GOVERNOR

THEODOROS B. KARATZAS
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NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE SA

REG No. 6062/06/B/86/01

ANNUAL BULLETIN 2001

This Annual Bulietin is intended to provide investors with regular and sufficient
information on the activities of National Bank of Greece SA, pursuant to the
provisions of Article 16 of Capital Market Commission decision
No. 5/204/14.11.2000

In the event of violation of the provisions of this article the Board of Directors of
the Capital Market Commission imposes the sanctions provided by article 7 of
PD 360/1985, in accordance with section (a), paragraph 4, article 1 of Law
2836/2000.

Athens, April 2002



Financial Highlights

National Bank NBG Group

2001 2000 2001 2000
Profit and loss (€ millions)
Net interest income 897.2 725.0 1111.0 910.3
Total operating income 15582 1756.1 1913.0 2156.8
Profit before provisions 676.6 929.5 757.5 1 080.7
Profit before tax 647.5 874.6 698.7 980.6
Balance sheet (€ millions)
Total assets 47 846.5 43 399.7 52 840.1 48 567.3
Total equity 22657 2581.8 2578.4 3184.9
Loans and advances to customers 16388.2 14966.8 19 251.8 17 765.2
Amounts owed to customers 405340 36781.0 44 8126 40 889.1
Per share (€)
Earnings - - 212 3.23
Dividend 1.10 1.09 - -
Dividend yield (share price at 31.12) 4.1% 2.7% - -
Ratios
Return on average equity (after tax) 19.4% 27.5% 18.7% 27.3%
Return on average assets (before tax) 1.4% 2.2% 1.4% 2.2%
Cost/ income (efficiency) ratio 56.6% 47.1% 60.4% 49.9%
Net interest margin 2.2% 2.0% 2.4% 2.2%
Loans after provisions to total assets 32.6% 32.7% 34.5% 34.6%
Capital adequacy
Tier | 9.9% 11.2% 9.0% 11.1%
Total capital 11.3% 12.6% 10.2% 12.3%
Number of employees 15194 15788 21332 21714
Credit ratings Long - term Short - term
Moody's A3 P-2
Standard & Poor’s BBB+ A-2
Fitch IBCA A- F-2
Capital Intelligence A- A-2
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1. The Annual Bulletin and the Auditors of
National Bank of Greece



1.1 Introduction

This Annual Bulletin includes information on the condition and development of the business, the
results of operations, as well as the prospects of NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE SA (referred
to as "The Bank" or "NBG") and its GROUP, such as are necessary in order to sufficiently
inform investors, in accordance with Article 16 of decision 5/204/14.11.2000 of the Capital
Market Commission’'s Board of Directors, published in the Government Gazette No
1487/6.12.2000 issue B.

This Bulletin shall be provided to investors free of charge, after the issuance of the Financial
Statements and at least ten (10) working days before the Annual General Meeting of the
Shareholders. A copy of the Annual Bulletin is submitted to the Capital Market Commission and
the Athens Stock Exchange.

In the event of violation of the terms of Article 16 of the aforementioned decision, the Capital
Market Commission’s Board of Directors imposes the penalties provided by Article 7 of the PD
360/1985, in accordance with section (a), paragraph 4, article 1 of L. 2836/2000.

1.2 Signatories

The persons responsible for compiling the Annual Bulletin are the following:

Herakles Hortarias, Manager of Domestic Affiliates Division, 40 Panepistimiou St. tel.
010 36 95 361.

Anthimos Thomopoulos, Chief Financial Officer, 6-10 Charilaou Trikoupi St., tel.: 010 36 95 701.
The above mentioned confirm that:
(a) All the information included is thorough and true.

(b) There is no other information and no other events have occurred that require consideration,
the omission of which would or could render all or part of the information included in the
Annual Bulletin as misleading.

(c) There were no outstanding court decisions against the Bank or the Group that could
materially affect its financial situation.

1.3 Certified Auditors
The Bank and the Group are audited by statutory Certified Auditors.

The Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Appropriation Account of the Bank and the
Group (Consolidated Financial Statements) for the years ended 1999, 2000 and 2001 have
been prepared and published in accordance with Greek Law and the Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles and Practices in Greece. They have been jointly audited by SOL SA and
Deloitte & Touche Hadjipavlou, Sofianos & Cambanis SA (Deloitte & Touche SA) and
specifically by the Certified Auditors Georgios Moskofidis, Vassilios Papageorgakopoulos of
SOL SA and Nicolaos Sofianos of Deloitte & Touche. '

The financial statements of the Bank and the Group for the first semester 2000 are prepared in
accordance with the terms of PD 360/85, and have been jointly audited by SOL SA and Deloitte
& Touche SA and specifically by the Certified Auditors Georgios Moskofidis, Vassilios
Papageorgakopoulos and George Cambanis. The financial statements of the Bank and the
Group for the first semester of 2001 are prepared in accordance with the terms of PD 360/85
and have been jointly audited by SOL SA and Deloitte & Touche SA.

The auditors’ reports are included on the attached appendix following the published Balance
Sheets and Profit and Loss Accounts and do not bear qualifications.

Further, the Statement of Appropriation of rights issue proceeds and the cash flow statements
of the Bank and the Group for 2001 have also been audited by the aforementioned auditors.
The statements are included in Chapter 12 of this Annual Bulletin.




In addition, Deloitte & Touche audit, in accordance with the Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards in the USA, the financial statements of the Bank prepared in accordance with the
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the USA (US GAAP) following the listing of the
Bank’s shares on the New York and the London Stock Exchanges.

Finally, a separate “Other Information” Annex presents details on the auditors of the Group
companies for 2001.

1.4 Tax audits

The Bank has been audited for all periods up to 31/12/1999 (fiscal year 2000). From the tax
audit performed in 1998 for the years up to 1997, an additional tax liability of
GRD 23 416 629 000 was imposed. This liability was paid in 1998 and was charged to the
appropriation account. From the tax audit performed in 1999 for the year 1998 in the case of
NBG and 1993-1997 in the case of the former National Mortgage Bank, an additional tax liability
of GRD 5176 307 056 was imposed, paid in July 1999 and charged to the appropriation
account of the year 1999. From the tax audit performed in 2000 for the year 1999 an additional
tax liability of GRD 1 919 000 000 was imposed. This liability was paid in December 2000 and
charged to the appropriation account of the same year.

Group companies located abroad are taxed according to their local tax law.

Lastly, a separate statement in the “Other Information” Annex presents the unaudited fiscal
years of the Group’s companies.

1.5 Consolidated companies

The consclidated financial statements include the following companies: 1) Atlantic Bank of New
York, 2) Banque Nationale de Grece (France), 3) Naticnal Bank of Greece (Canada), 4) The
South African Bank of Athens Ltd, 5) National Bank of Greece (Cyprus) Ltd, 6) National
Investment Bank for Industrial Development SA, 7) National Investment Company SA, 8)
National Securities Company SA, 9) Diethniki Mutual Fund Management SA, 10) National
Mutual Fund Management SA, 11) Ethniki Kefalaiou Management of Assets and Liabilities
Co., 12) National Management and Organization Co., 13) Ethniki Leasing SA, 14) National
Regional Development Co. of Northern Greece SA Venture Capital, 15) NBG International Ltd,
16) NBG Finance Plc, 17) National Securities Co (Cyprus Ltd), 18) Interlease AD (Sofia), 19)
NBG Balkan Fund Ltd, 20) NBG Greek Fund Ltd, 21) ETEVA Bulgaria AD, 22) ETEVA
Emerging Markets Fund Ltd, 23) ETEVA Estate Fund Lid, 24) ETEVA Venture Capital
Management Company Ltd, 25) ETEVA Romania, 26) Ethniki Venture Capital Management SA,
27) Stopanska Banka AD Skopje, 28) United Bulgarian Bank, 29) ETEVA Advisory S R L, 30)
NBG International Inc., 31) NBG Private Equity Ltd, 32) NBG Bancassurance Insurance Brokers
SA, 33) NBG Management Services Ltd, 34) NBG International Jersey Ltd. The following
companies which were included in the consolidated financial statements as at 31.12.2000, are
no longer consolidated: Greek Shipowners Investments Co. SA which has been merged
through absorption with National Investment Bank for Industrial Development SA in accordance
with the provisions of Law 2166/93 and Worthington Limited Partnership, which was dissolved.
Also, the company referred to under item 34 above was consolidated for the first time as at
30.6.2001.

Subsidiaries’ items were consolidated under the provisions of L. 2190/1920 and, in a number of
cases, were adjusted to be in line with the Group’s accounting principles.

1.6 Public offerings

It is noted that during the last year there were no a) offers by third parties for the purchase or
exchange of the Bank’s shares, b) offers by the Bank to purchase or exchange shares of other
companies.




2. General Information on the Bank and the
Group




2.1 History

National Bank of Greece SA was founded in 1841 and has been listed on the Athens Stock
Exchange since 1880. In its 161 years of operations the Bank has expanded on its commercial
banking business by entering into related business areas. This expansion has produced the
large diversified financial group of services that today comprise the NBG Group. As part of this
diversification, the Bank founded the Ethiniki Hellenic General Insurance Company in 1891 and
the National Mortgage Bank in 1927. For a significant period, the Bank, in addition to its
commercial banking services was responsible for issuing currency in Greece, until the
establishment in 1928 of the Bank of Greece as a Central Bank. The Bank expanded its
business further when, in 1953, it merged with the Bank of Athens SA, which had been
founded in 1893. In 1998, the Bank merged with National Mortgage Bank of Greece SA which
had been formed from the merger of National Mortgage Bank and National Housing Bank of
Greece SA, in order to provide more integrated mortgage lending services to the Bank's
customers.

Up to a decade ago the Greek banking sector was highly regulated. Until this time, banks in
Greece were obliged by the Greek State to invest approximately 40% of their drachma deposits
in low yielding Greek Treasury bills and observe substantial restrictions on foreign currency
activities.

Regulatory reform in the Greek banking sector was gradually introduced between 1985 and
1987, beginning a process of significant liberalization. This process continued with the
implementation of EU directives in the early 1990s. These changes permitted the expansion of
business activities into new sectors, such as capital markets, asset management, consumer
lending and mortgage lending while introducing increased competition from other domestic and
foreign banks.

The Bank responded to these new business opportunities and challenges by becoming more
commercially oriented. Since 1996 the Bank has substantially restructured its activities in order
to improve its competitiveness.

2.2 General Information

The Bank was named “National Bank of Greece SA” by the General Meeting of Shareholders
of April 30, 1958.

The Bank’s headquarters are located at 86 Eolou Street, (Reg. No. 6062/06/B/86/01), tel.:
010 3341 000. By resolution of the Board of Directors the Bank can establish Branches,
Agencies and Correspondence offices in Greece and abroad.

The Bank's current corporate form, will expire on February 27, 2053.

In accordance with article 3 of its Articles of Association, the Bank carries out in Greece and
abroad all the banking and financial activities allowed to bank societes anonymes by Greek and
EU legislation. It has become a diversified financial services group providing integrated services
to meet the demands of its customers.

2.3 Banking Products and Services

Responding to its customers’ needs, the Bank provides a wide range of multiple banking
services from traditional deposits and foreign currency and credit card functions to investment
banking services, commercial banking services, mortgage and consumer lending, asset
management and brokerage. In addition, it provides and promotes electronic transactions
systems in order to upgrade quality and speed of service.

2.4 Customer service networks

The Bank runs an extensive domestic network of 596 branches, including 9 Loan Recovery
units and the Private Banking unit.
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In 2001, the Bank further advanced its network recrganization program, which was launched in
the previous year with a view to improving customer service. The Bank’s branches are being
relieved of various support operations and specially trained staff have been delegated with the
task of marketing the Bank's products. In stressing the customer focus of the Bank's philosophy
the branches are being transformed into customer service centres whose objective is to meet
customers’ financial needs. By the end of 2001, no less than 170 branches were operating in
this new form, generating impressive results.

As part of this effort, a new system of branch performance targets was introduced, which
includes branch sales and quality targets that aim to enhance the standard of customer service
and reduce congestion in the customer areas.

Alongside its branch reorganisation programme NBG is further developing alternative customer
service networks. To illustrate, the Bank now runs 936 ATMs (up 17% on 2000) and plans to
install a further 300. The entire ATM network is linked to the DIAS interbank payment system.
Furthermore, the round-the-clock ATM monitoring service, together with the application of new
software, ensures that customers can obtain full and continuous service through the enhanced
operability of the Bank’s on-line network. In 2001, the ratio of net to gross operating hours for
the Bank’s ATMs was 94.1%, one of the highest internationally. NBG’s co-operation with the
Attikon-Metro has led to the installation of ATMs in many of the capital’'s subway stations. At the
same time, the number of Ethnocash cards now in circulation increased over the course of the
year to 2.2 million, up 17.5%.

Finally, besides these developments, e-banking services were also extended to include facilities
for making VAT, credit card and insurance policy payments via the internet and ATMs.

2.5 The NBG Group

National Bank of Greece, the oldest Greek commercial bank, heads the largest and strongest
financial group in the country.

e The NBG Group provides a full range of financial products and services that meet the
constantly changing needs of private individuals and corporate customers alike.

e The Bank has 596 branches and 936 ATMs in Greece, and 359 banking units overseas. The
Group boasts by far the largest netwark for the distribution of financial products and services
in Greece.

¢ Overseas the NBG Group is active in 18 countries and controls 7 banks and 8 other financial
companies.

¢« With a 30% share of the retail banking market, NBG can rightly claim to be the bank of the
Greek family.

s The opening of the new Belgrade branch widened the Bank’s presence in the Balkans

¢ The scheduled acquisition of Yonkers Financial Corporation in New York further strengthen
the Group'’s presence in the major financial centers.

¢ The Bank's successful expansion abroad has led to rise (more than double) in the
contribution of its overseas units to whole Group pre-tax earnings.

e The Group has entered the international fund management sector with the launch of
specialized businesses in Luxembourg so as to fortify its investment product offering.

s The Group further expands its presence in the venture capital market with the setting up of
NBG Technology Fund in collaboration with Microsoft.

¢ The cancellation of 12.9 million shares has enhanced the performance of the Bank's equity
capital while keeping the Group’s capital base solid and enabling it to grow its operations
further.




2.6 Other services

National Bank, through specialized units of the Group, provides a wide range of financial
services, such as insurance, leasing, factoring, asset management, computer services and
training services to third parties.

The Group provides insurance services through Ethniki Hellenic General Insurance Company,
which is not consolidated, in accordance with the prevailing legislation. This company is the
largest insurance company in the Greek market with a strong capital base and an extensive
network that offers fire, property, car, ship, plane, marine, and health insurance combined with
investment programs.

2.7 Fixed assets

Developments in fixed assets for the period 31.12.1999 to 31.12.2001 are set out below:

Additions/
Disposals Accumulated  Net book
Cost 1.1.00 to Total cost  depreciation value

€ millions 31.12.99 31.12.01 31.12.01 31.12.01 31.12.01
Tangible assets:
Land 151.0 18.8 169.8 - 169.8
Buildings 217.8 44.0 261.8 189.2 72.8
Furmture, electronic & other 182.2 64.4 246.6 162.8 83.8
equipment
Other tangible assets 11.5 (1.8) 9.7 6.1 3.6
Fixed assets under construction 50 18.3 233 ; 233
and advances
Total tangible assets 567.5 143.7 711.2 358.1 3531
Intangible assets:
Establishment and formation 36 0.2 3.8 15 23
expenses
Other intangible assets 122.7 82.2 204.9 107.0 97.9
Total intangible assets 126.3 82.4 208.7 108.5 100.2

The fixed assets of the Bank are free of charges or encumbrances.

The table below presents the expenses for the modernization of the fixed assets for the years
1999, 2000 and 2001.

€ millions 2001 2000 1999
Computer hardware 234 18.1 30.7
Software 228 20.6 24.5
Telecommunications 6.3 7.7 4.5
Reorganization 4.0 2.3 7.3
Total modernization investments 56.3 48.7 67.0
Buildings and land 42.0 26.5 134
Furniture and appliances 9.0 2.6 34
Other v 3.4 4.0 2.8
Other transportation means 0.5 - -
Total investments 111.2 81.8 86.6

11
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3. The performance of NBG stock




3.1 Description of the share capital

The Bank's share capital amounts to € 1 026 362 034 divided into 228 080 452 shares at a par
value of € 4.5 each. The following table briefly presents the development of the share capital:

Number of Number of Capitalization of Dividend Share capital

Gov. new  shares after Offering surplus and  capitaliza- after the

BoD or G M date  Gazette shares the increase Par value price In cash reserves tion increase
) BoD26253 30 366 30366 7350000 7350 223190 100 223190 100
10.9.1953 ) 10122 40488 7350000 7350 74 396 700 297 586 800
) 241955 o 404 880 735 ) 297 586 800
BoD14/27.11.56 404 880 1436 283820880 581407 680
14.4.1962 202 440 607 320 1436 1436 290703 840 872111520
19.5.1969 1214640 725 8502 480 880 614 000
28.5.1970 N 303 660 1518 300 725 220153 500 1100 767 500
791972 216900 1735200 725 725 157 252 500 1258 020 000
7.9.1972 506 100 2241300 725 366 922 500 1624 942 500
26.5.1975 89 652 2330952 725 64 997 700 1689 940 200
o 2.6.1977 o ) 2797142 1600 o 2785 487 000 o ‘{475427209

25.5.1979 40,0?/.3‘1'.12'80 559 429 3356 571 1600 ) ‘12 500 895 086 400 o 5370513 600
o 24.9.1982 4'1_9?/?:.'1.2;8_2 """" 3356571 450 9734055900 15_ 1(24‘ ?69 500
24.9.1932 o -4192/3.12.82 1006 972 4363 543: ..... 4 VS'OOV . ) 4 51;1- 3V74<OVO‘0 _______ 19 635 943 500
8.6.1988 2?31/12.9.88 7854378 12217 921 4500 ) 35 344 701 000 i} 54 980 644 500
SIS s eSS eSS 40 TS0 osewsw S50 72540
21.6.1991 46_2~2/.2_7.-1 1;99 1221792 15883 297 4500 o 5498064000 71474 ?36 500
wu | swes s sws o teewrews 57914085
e ewwsis e dsewsz sws oo oT14297570
fomiiess ewswriss o tsss ssws SE 7914393
o 14031997 1 58?33? i j?f‘ﬂ 687 oo 13421431280 o 1(‘)1.\'53'5‘7’8‘4'6.09
LBV STIDTOY e 0w S0 BW0 WSO 126nesso
10941085/9.12.0897 1615274 22581298 5800 i 9368 589 200 “”_””_131(39'{1 528 400
o ?545.1998 __""“_flV5.1>6'2_6F). 2?_097 558 se@@ 26 194 308 000 ________-“1§7A 165}364_090
o 9.9.1998 4430980 31528538 5800 25899 684 000 182 865 520 400
1615274 33143812 5800 9368 589 200 192 234 109 600
menet2e
1117/18.12.98
2257932 35401744 5800 13 096 005 600 205330115200
_____ 28
29.1.1999 ) 106 205232 141606 976 140 ?(‘)5‘1'5%0‘1.1_5‘200
....... (;.;‘.,.1.9&;"“ 1484302;{”1'56-4::7(.)6(36“““1;5'0-. 11500 21 522384'86[;””‘”””.”'““_“‘ i 22685—%500000
1129/6.4.99
3612 156453512 1450 5092 400 226 857 592 400
RN oo fmsees v ST | W0
o 1842000 6’5—1'6'5~8f1f1_ _2?8 080 452 g oo 94 490 473 800 o --9%?21.6955,409- )
e Qa1 zestss 10 SwOEIID | MOS0
Lmeme (10w mew0sz 60 pISswAN  S0TIoedn
LBARM L BSWR USRYS L eewTes  u9TRenes
1187/15.11.2001 6461100 234541552  1533.375 ) 9sor2g921s ?59{(}11‘0'15.2 29'9. )
o —2;1;20(;1— o (6 461 100)— 2‘28 '0;30 ;5£ N '1'\;)3‘3—.1;7‘; ) 9 9;J7 2Bé é;;). N 343 732 863 086
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By resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders’, dated 18 April 2000, approved by the
K2-5175 decision of the Deputy Minister of Development dated 21 April 2000 the share capital
of the Bank was increased by GRD 94 490 473 800 with the capitalization of an equal amount
of the Share Premium Reserve. As a result 65 165 844 shares at a par value of GRD 1 450
were issued that were distributed to the shareholders holding the shares as at 26 April 2000 at a
rate of four new shares for every ten old.

On November 15, 2000 the share capital of the Bank was increased by GRD 9 368 589 200.
This increase resulted from the conversion of 1 615 274 bonds of the Convertible Bond Loan
issued in 1996, owned by the Greek State, based on the General Meeting of Shareholders’
resolution of 9 July 1996 and the agreement with the Greek State that was validated by
L. 2441/96 and published in the Government Gazette 256/15.11.1996, as amended by
L. 2525/1997. As a result, 6 461 096 registered shares were issued at a par value of
GRD 1 450. The difference between the par value of the bonds and the par value of the shares
amounting to GRD 11 066 242 174 was accounted as Share Premium Reserve.

By resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders’, dated 26 April 2001, approved by the
K2-6205 decision of the Deputy Minister of Development dated 23 May 2001, the share capital
of the Bank was decreased by GRD © 368 589 200 with the cancellation of 6 461 096 own
shares purchased on 15 December 2000 by the Public Company for Transferable Securities SA
(PCTS) pursuant to the agreement signed on 13 December 2000 between NBG SA and PCTS
SA ratified by article 11 of L. 2892/9.3.2001.

By resolution General Meeting of Shareholders’, dated 26 April 2001, approved by the K2-6205
decision of the Deputy Minister of Development dated 23 May 2001, the share capital of the
Bank was increased by GRD 19 016 207 686 following the increase of the Bank's share par
value from GRD 1450 to GRD 1 533.375 (€ 4.5) resulting from the capitalization a) GRD
10 637 258 098 revaluation of assets reserve pursuant to L.2065/ 1992 and b)
GRD 8 378 949 588 of the share premium reserve .

By resolution of the Board of Directors 1187/15.11.2001 and 1888/15.11.2001 the share capital
of the Bank was increased by GRD 9 907 289 283 by issuing 6 461 100 new shares at a par
value of GRD 1 533.375. The increase resulted from the conversion of 1 615 275 bonds of the
convertible bond loan issued in 1996. The difference between the bonds” par value and the
shares’ par value totaling GRD 10 527 554 812 was accounted as share premium reserve.

By resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders’, dated 26 November 2001, approved by
the K2-17801 decision of the Deputy Minister of Development dated 28 December 2001, the
share capital of the Bank was decreased by GRD 9 907 289 283 resulting from the cancellation
of 6 461 100 own shares deriving from the conversion of 1 615 275 convertible bonds that were
bought back by the PCTS on 15 December 2000 pursuant to the agreement signed on 13
December 2000, ratified by article 11 of L. 2892/9.3.2001.

3.2 Shareholder Structure

At 31 December 2001, the Bank’'s shareholders comprised individuals and institutions, as well
as the Greek State. To illustrate, the State owned 4.5% of the Bank’s stock either directly or via
the PCTS. A further 31.6% of the Bank’s share capital was owned by the State indirectly
through various legal entities. Institutions (mainly institutional investors) and individuals in

NBG shareholder structure at: 31.12.2001 {NBG shareholder structure at: 31.12.2000
Private NBG
¢ overseas - subsidiaries ; ) Other domestic
investors /5.0, i Frivate domestic insttutionals
0.5% ¢ investors - 7.3%
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overseas
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- 0.5%

/
!
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Frivate domsstic { 16.6%
investors | Other public w \ NBG
2556% I~ entities | 7 subsidiaries
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p \ | ) ©
institutionals \ H | / /-2 8%
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institutionals institutionals : o
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Number of ordinary shares at 31.12.2001:228 080 452 Number of ordinary shares at 31.12.2000:234 541 548




Greece and abroad owned 58.9% of NBG stock, distributed as follows: legal entities 32.8%
(domestic: 16.1%, overseas: 16.7%) and individuals 26.1% (domestic: 25.6%, overseas: 0.5%).
Lastly, NBG's subsidiaries held 5.0% of its stock.

3.3 The performance of NBG Stock

Qver the past five years NBG stock has outperformed both the ASE general price index and the
ASE banking index. Between 31 December 1996 and 31 December 2001 NBG shareholders
enjoyed a total return of 376.8% as compared with 177.6% for the general price index and
238.7% for the banking index.
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In 2001, the NBG share moved in line with the general downward path of the Greek and
international stock markets. The decline in the NBG share price was 34% compared with 34.5%
for the banking sector overall and 23.5% for the ASE general price index. Accordingly, the NBG
share price at 31 December 2001 stood at €26.72 compared with €40.46 at 31 December 2000.

NBG stock market data "’
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Year-end price (€) 26.7 40.5 50.7 315 10.4 56
Year high (€) ) 454 54.3 61.8 315 15.5 59
Year low (€) 213 35.8 31.0 8.0 5.6 4.1
Mean price for the year (€) 33.9 44.9 45.1 19.0 11.8 4.9

Yearly coefficient of variation for NBG's share
price (%)?

NBG market capitalization on the ASE (€ millions) 6094.3 94856 115436 65101 16564 7139

5.5 10.6 9.3 31 49 101

Ratio of NBG to ASE market capitalization (%) 6.4 8.0 5.9 9.8 5.8 4.2
Ratio of NBG to banking sector capitalization (%) 23.8 259 274 39.6 316 254
Trading volume (€ millions) 2464.8 34617 7686.1 35147 12647 1676
Ratio of NBG to ASE trading volume (%) 5.9 37 45 8.5 7.6 2.8

Ratio of NBG to banking sector trading volume

(%) 29.0 25.2 28.1 30.0 326 222

Source : ASE, Bloomberg, NBG calculations

Y For comparison, share prices have been adjusted (Bloomberg methodology) to account for increases in
capital over the past five years.

© Ratio of the yearly variation of daily prices over the corresponding average price.
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At 31 December 2001, NBG's market capitalization totalled €6 094 million, down €3 391 million
relative to 2000. In terms of market capitalization, at year-end 2001 NBG ranked second among
firms listed on the Greek stock market, accounting for 6.4% of the ASE's total market
capitalization as compared with 8% at the end of 2000. NBG’s percentage share of market
capitalization for the banking sector as a whole continues to be the largest, at 23.8% at 31
December 2001. To put this in perspective it is worth noting that, at the end of 2001, the second
largest bank in the country accounted for a 17.4% share of banking sector market capitalization.

NBG share and trading volumes in 2001 (ASE and NYSE)

NBG on the ASE NBG (ADR ETE ©® on the NYSE

Total trading
volume for the

Total trading
volume for the

Price month Price month (USD
Month € " (€ millions) (usDp) ™ millions)
January 39.80 184.74 7.25 4.81
February 37.76 109.77 7.00 2.73
March 38.56 113.11 6.85 7.30
April 43.74 218.56 7.78 3.08
May 40.90 615.88 6.99 0.60
June 34.98 358.80 6.05 3.7
July 31.00 212.73 5.06 4.58
August 32.26 96.22 5.85 0.60
September 23.64 147.88 4.30 0.99
October 28.52 107.43 5.71 2.53
November 27.40 217.93 4.78 2.02
December 26.72 81.76 4.75 2.67

Source: Bloomberg, ASE, calculations NBG

" 1 ast session of the month
@ 1 share = 5 ADRs

NBG's share displayed lower volatility in 2001 relative to its volatility in recent years. The
coefficient of variation for its daily return dropped markedly to 5.5% from 10.6% in 2000 and
9.3% in 1999. The 2001 volatility level was within the average band for the banking sector, but
was lower than overall market volatility (5.6% and 8.6% respectively).

Banking sector fundamentals

Profit multiple Earnings per share
31.12.2001 2001 Average 31.12.2001 2001 Average

Norway 7.10 7.61 5.75 5.27
Greece 9.10 10.56 3.7 2.91
France 9.60 10.22 4.06 3.85
Germany 9.80 15.24 2.13 213
Sweden 10.80 12.06 3.53 3.42
Netherlands 11.70 12.25 4.05 4.01
italy 11.70 13.84 3.63 3.19
Ireland 12.20 12.67 4.05 4.01
Belgium 12.80 12.77 3.61 3.24
Portugal 12.90 13.40 2.99 2.73
UK 13.90 14.48 3.82 3.59
Spain 16.70 17.89 2.50 2.26
Austria 17.80 16.69 1.82 1.86
Finland 22.50 11.39 3.46 2.56
EU 12.50 13.79 3.50 3.20
USA 19.00 18.26 2.53 2.47

Source: Datastream, NBG calculations




The table above, together with the fact that at 31 December 2001 NBG's profit multiple stood at
7.4% and earnings per share at 4.1%, implies that expectations regarding the return on Greek
banking stocks, including NBG, are positive. Furthermore, NBG's high EPS is proof of the
Bank’s confidence regarding its future performance. This confidence is backed also by the fact
that the Greek economy is anticipated to grow at a faster rate than the EU average.
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4. Management — Divisions — Supervision —
Organization chart




4.1 Management

In accordance with article 18 of the Articles of Association, the management of the Bank lies
with the Board of Directors, which is composed of nine (9) to fifteen (15) members.

The members of the Board of Directors are elected by the shareholders at their General
Meeting, which determines the precise number of the members on the Board. The members of
the Board can be replaced at any time by the General Meeting.

The Board of Directors elects from its members, by 100% majority, the Chairman of the Board,
the Governor who directs the Bank's operations, and between one and five Deputy Governors.
The Chairman of the Board can also be elected as the Governor of the Bank.

The Board of Directors represents the Bank in court and in out of court settlements and can, if it
so decides, assign authorities and responsibilities, either in whole or in part, including the
representation right, to the Governor, the Deputy Governors, to one or more of its members or
the Managers of the Bank or to third parties, determining at the same time the conditions under
which these authorities are assigned. The authorities that require joint approval of the Board
can not be assigned.

The Board of Directors can, if decided, delegate part of its authorities and responsibilities,
including the representation right, according to articie 18 paragraph 2 and article 22 paragraph 3
of the Codified Law 2190/1920 as amended, to employees of the Bank or other persons suitably
qualified.

The Board of Directors can assign to the Governor and the Deputy Governors the right to further
delegate the above mentioned authorities and responsibilities to other employees of the Bank.

The Board of Directors is responsible for:

+ the establishment of Branches, Agencies and Representative Offices in Greece and abroad

« the participation of the Bank in other banks in Greece or abroad or the disposal of its
participations

e the approval of the Organization Chart of the Bank

¢ the promotion of the Bank’s Managers at the proposal of the Governor

¢ the approval of the Bank’s and the Group's Financial Statements

o the setting up of foundations as designated by article 108 of the Civil Code and the

participation in the companies designated by article 784 of the Civil Code
The Board of Directors of the Bank is composed as follows:
Chairman - Governor
Theodoros B. Karatzas
Deputy Governors
Theodoros N. Pantalakis
Andreas S. Vranas

Apostolos S. Tamvakakis

Non-Executive members of the Board

H.E. the Metropolitan of loannina Theoklitos

Panagiotis A. Zarras Employees’ representative
Nicolaos G. Kalogeropoulos Chairman of Ethniki Kefalaiou SA
Panagiotis V. Lambropoulos Retail Lambropoulos Bros SA
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Georgios Z. Lanaras Shipowner

Miltiadis A. Nektarios Chairman of IKA (Social Security Fund)
loannis P. Panagopoulos Employees’ representative

Dimitrios Papoulias Chairman of the Public Power Corp.

Vassilios Th. Rapanos Chairman of the Council of Economic Advisers
Pavlos S. Stellakis Managing Director of NBG International
Georgios S. Tsougiopoulos Civil engineer — Architect- City Planner

The term of the Board of Directors lasts three years and is renewed yearly for one third of its
members. The term ends at the Annual General Meeting of the third year after election.

The Board of Directors fees for 2000 amounted to GRD 15 000 000, and for 2001 the sum of
GRD 15 000 000 will be proposed to the shareholders’ Annual General Meeting. The salaries
and compensations paid by the Bank to the Board members during 2001 amounted to
GRD 582 602 504, of which amount GRD 168 624 622 was withheld for social security and
taxes. The Bank paid GRD 148 531 394 for employers’ contributions. Fees paid to Directors for
attending Board meetings for 2001 amounted to GRD 74 750 000, of which amount
GRD 27 803 250 was withheld for taxes. The members of the Board as at 31 December 2001,
hold in total 52 573 shares of the Bank.

4.2 Divisions

In accordance with the relevant Board of Directors’ resolutions, the Bank has the following
Management and Regional Divisions with the respective managers:

Management Divisions

Human Resources Development Division M. Terlixidou
Non-performing Loans Division P. Kontogiannis
Secretariat Division A. Tzoulis
Treasury Division P. Christodoulou
Group Risk Management Division M. Oratis
Private Banking Division |. Georgiadis
Legal Division A. Karabelas
Domestic Network Division G. Giannissakis
International Division A M. Koutsos
International Division B S. Androutsopoulos
Operations Division N. Tsagarakis
Investments & Capital Markets Division A. Mavromatis
Trade Credit Division M. Kokkinos
Internal Audit Division |. Papanikos
Procurement Division D. Protonotarios
Domestic Affiliates Division H. Hortarias
institutional Banking Division P. Haikalis
Mortgage Lending Division P. Linos
Consumer Credit Division G. Aronis
Marketing Division S. Papaspirou
Shipping Division A. Tourkolias
Financial & Management Accounting Division A. Thomopoulos
Organization Division N. Mallouhos
Property Management Division D. Nikolopoulos
Commercial Credit Division P. Fronistas
Information Technology Division K. Ekonomopoulos
Personnel Division Th. Pliakos
Strategic Planning and Research Division P. Mylonas




M. Hairas
H. Tzannetakis

Correspondent Banking Division
Technical Services Division

Cash and Custody Division D. Matsaganis

Corporate Banking Division D. Pinis

Corporate Loan Restructuring Division L. Samanidis
Regional Divisions

Regional Division A I. Makris

Regional Division B S. Asimopoulos
Regional Division C A. Halaris

Regional Division D P. Lazaridis
Regional Division E N. Papanikolopoulos
Regional Division F P. Skoutaris

Salaries paid by the Bank to the directors of the above Divisions and Regional Divisions during
2001 amounted to GRD 1710 923 152. Of this amount GRD 648 274 015 was withheld for
social security and taxes, while the Bank paid employers’ contributions of GRD 641 223 163.
The directors of the Divisions held 48 877 NBG shares in total as at 31 December 2001.

4.3 Supervision

The certified auditors of the Bank are charged by the Law with supervision. According to
L.2076/92 the internal control is performed by the Internal Audit Division of the Bank.

In accordance with the provisions of PD 267/ 24.7.95 applicable to groups that include at least
one credit institution, the Bank as a group is supervised by the Central Bank of Greece.

The act of the Governor of the Bank of Greece 2438/ 6.8.98 introduced a framework of general
rules for the operation of the internal controls system of Credit Institutions. Pursuant to this Act,
the Audit Committee was established. The findings of the Committee for the accounting year
2001 are included in the Appendix to the Financial Statements.

4.4 Organization chart
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4.5 Staff

The personnel of NBG as at 31 December 2001 comprised 15 194 (including local personnel of
foreign branches) persons compared with 15788 persons as at 31 December 2000. The
corresponding numbers for the Group were 21 332 and 21 714 respectively.

The number of employees by category during the last three years is as follows:

1999 2000 2001
Accountants — Cashiers 8390 8171 7803
Higher qualification Personnel 5729 5821 5697
Officers — Cleaners —Technicians 1603 1417 1354
Guards — Workers 24 20 27
Total domestic units 15746 15429 14 881
Foreign branches n/a 359 313
Total n/a 15788 15194

n/a: not available

in 2001, the Bank made a total 202 new hirings, primarily individuals with post-graduate
university degrees, while approximately 796 individuals retired from the Bank, of whom 251 took
advantage of the early retirement package that was offered during the year.

During 2001 new Bank Staff Regulations were put into force, setting out the general
employment obligations and entitlements of staff, while ancther important development was the
pilot launch of Assessment/Development Centres that aim to foster mechanisms by which staff
skills can be assessed and identified, thereby making it possible for employees to reorient their
career paths within the Bank in accordance with their particular skills and abilities.

Furthermore, with conditions in the banking sector constantly changing and advancing, the
Bank views the training and education of staff as a vital component in its quest to achieve
business success. As part of this policy, the Bank ran 1 643 training seminars in which no less
than 22 980 individuals took part in 2001. The Bank also supports its employees who wish to
pursue post-graduate studies, while its foreign language teaching courses have also been met
with success especially by the Bank’s senior officers.

4.6 Curricula vitae
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Theodoros Karatzas. Mr Karatzas was appointed Governor of the Bank in February 1996. He
is 71 years old and a graduate of Athens Law School and the Centre for European Studies of
Strasbourg University. During 1982-1985, he was the Managing Director of ETEVA, Chairman
of the Board of Directors of Banque Franco-Hellenique de Commerce International et Maritime
and Chairman of the Board of Directors of ASPIS Housing Bank. During 1985-1987, he was the
Secretary General of the Ministry of National Economy and in the period 1987-1988 he was the
Deputy-Minister for National Economy. In the period 1986-1987, he was Chairman of the
Modernization of the Greek Banking System Committee, which set the base for the liberalization
of the Greek financial market at the end of the 80s and the beginning of the 90s. Mr. Karatzas
has been a member of the Athens Law Society since 1955, has published articles on
commercial and maritime Law and has been Chairman of the Hellenic Banking Association
since 1996 and Chairman of 5 subsidiaries of the Group located outside Greece.

The Divisions reporting directly to Mr. Karatzas are as follows:

Human Resources Development Division, Secretariat Division, Treasury Division, Legal
Division, Internal Audit Division and Strategic Planning and Research Division.




Deputy Governors

Theodoros Pantalakis. Mr. Pantalakis is 47 years old, was appointed Deputy Governor of the
Bank in 1996 and is Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors. In addition, Mr Pantalakis is
Chairman or member of the Board of Directors of several Group companies, including Ethniki
Insurance and Astir Hotels. Mr. Pantalakis is also Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of
the Athens Stock Exchange and Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Athens Clearing
House. Mr. Pantalakis holds a degree in Business Administration from the University of
Piraeus. He worked as a financial analyst in commercial and industrial companies prior to being
employed by ETEVA in 1980. In 1991, he was appointed Deputy Managing Director of
Interamerican Group and in 1996 he returned to the National Bank of Greece Group.

The Divisions reporting directly to Mr. Pantalakis are as follows:

Financial and Management Accounting Division, Domestic Affiliates Division, Property
Management Division, Information Technology Division, Organization Division, Operations
Division, Procurement Division, Technical Services Division, Cash and Custody Division,
Personnel Division and Correspondent Banking Division.

Andreas Vranas. Mr. Vranas is 49 years old, was appointed Deputy Governor of the Bank in
1996 and is Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors. In addition, Mr. Vranas is Chairman or
member of the Board of Directors of several Group companies, including Ethniki Leasing. Mr.
Vranas holds a degree in Business Administration from the Economics University of Athens, is a
holder of a PhD in Finance from the University of Manchester and a holder of a degree in
Finance from the University of Athens. He worked at ETEVA during 1979-1985 and the Ministry
of National Economy from 1985 until 1988, when he rejoined ETEVA.

The Divisions reporting directly to Mr. Vranas are as follows:

Corporate Banking Division, Commercial Credit Division, Corporate Loan Restructuring Division,
Non-performing Loans Division, Shipping Division, Domestic Network Division, Regional
Divisions A, B, C, D, E, F and the Central Branch.

Apostolos Tamvakakis. Mr. Tamvakakis is 44 years old, was appointed Deputy Governor of
the Bank in 1998 and is Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors. In addition, Mr. Tamvakakis is
Chairman or member of the Board of Directors of several Group companies, including National
Management and Organization Company. In 1996 he was appointed Deputy Governor of the
National Mortgage Bank. He joined the National Bank of Greece following his resignation from
ABN-AMRO Bank, where he was Deputy Managing Director for seven years. Mr. Tamvakakis
is a graduate of the Economics University of Athens, and holds a postgraduate degree from the
University of Canada.

The Divisions reporting directly to Mr. Tamvakakis are as follows:

Consumer Credit Division, Group Risk Management Division, Marketing Division, Institutional
Banking Division, Investments & Capital Markets Division, Mortgage Lending Division, Trade
Credit Division, Private Banking Division, International Division A, International Division B and
Panepistimiou Branch.

4.7 Pending Court Cases

In the course of its regular business activities, the Bank as well as the other companies of the
Group are involved in court or other cases. The Bank considers that should these pending
cases go against the Bank they will not materially affect the financial situation of the Group as a
whole.
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5. Activities of the NBG Group




5.1 Corporate lending
Business finance, leasing, factoring

One of NBG's principal fields of activity is the core banking activity of corporate lending to small,
medium and large businesses, and to shipping. The Bank aims to develop its business in
sectors that display strong growth prospects and high profit margins. A key component of this
drive is lending to SMEs, supported by specialized credit centres set up by the Bank in 1999. In
the sphere of large corporate financing the Bank pursues a policy of selective positioning in
sectors that present growth potential while taking into consideration the returns to be earned
from the overall Bank-client relationship. Similarly, drawing on its substantial expertise, the Bank
is able to undertake credit risk by holding internationa! corporate bonds with a view to
broadening its asset base.

In the sphere of large corporate lending, the Bank attracted new clients from dynamic sectors of
the economy, thus bringing the total number of its large corporate customers to over 1000 at
end-2001. At the same time, the range of services provided to good customers was broadened.
The balance of loans to corporates in the private and public sectors surpassed €5 billion at 31
December 2001.

Furthermore, during the course of 2001, the total number of small and medium-sized enterprise
customers reached 35 000, while the level of current loans exceeded € 2.3 billion. It is worth
noting that the Bank also runs a specialized factoring service, which saw a marked increase in
turnover in 2001, as its portfolio grew by 220%.

Last year was also a very satisfactory year for leasing. Ethniki Leasing made good use of its
access to the Bank’s network and customer base, promoting leasing products as an additional
business financing option. The number of active leasing agreements rose, while turnover and
profits climbed substantially.

During 2001, the number of leasing agreements rose 58%, while the value of new business
topped € 52.2 miliion, up 13%.

Shipping finance

The Bank's shipping finance activity served to reaffirm its leading role in this sector in Greece,
while its ranking among international banks involved in credit to shipping is also significant. In
2001, the Bank added 7 new clients to its customer base bringing the total number to 94 with
280 ships under financing. Total new loans in 2001 amounted to € 215 million, while total
outstandings in the loan portfolio rose 9.3% on the previous year, reaching €1 billion. Of this
portfolio, 20% concerns lending via our London branch. Qualitatively speaking, the loan portfolio
saw further improvements with financing for new buildings increasing the number of vessels
whose age is below 5 years to 22% of total funded vessels, while such vessels now account for
46% of the shipping loans balance. Financing of new buildings enabled the Bank to broaden its
activity in the sphere of syndicated loans, which now account for 35% of the total portfolio. In
2002, the Bank will continue its prudent policy in shipping finance, while watching closely
developments and conditions in the sector internationally.

5.2 Lending to households
Mortgage lending

The steady growth reported in consumer credit in 1999-2000 continued in 2001. This fact
acquires yet more significance when one considers the substantial margins for further growth in
retail banking in Greece in the coming years. With the ievel of mortgages in Greece at 12% of
GDP compared with an average of 40% for the rest of the EU, the sector presents very
substantial margins for future growth.

NBG has traditionally held first place in the mortgage lending sector in Greece, and has
succeeded in further strengthening this place in the face of intensifying competition. To
illustrate, in 2001 the right to finance subsidized housing loans and the establishment of
mortgage savings accounts was extended to all banks in Greece.
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In 2001, mortgage lending totalled € 1 223.8 million compared with € 846.1 million in 2000, up
44.6%. Accordingly, mortgage outstandings grew by 24.7%, reaching € 4 614 million at the end
of the year, as against € 3 700 million at end-2000. At 31 December 2001, the Bank’s market
share stood at 29.5%. These figures are particularly impressive if one considers the very
substantial absolute magnitude of the mortgage lending portfolio of the Bank as well as the high
depreciation rate due {o the age of the portfolio.

The rapid growth in mortgage turnover has

New mortgage loan disbursements

(€ mittions) been accompanied by a  marked
12238

improvement in the quality of new
mortgages. This has been achieved largely
via a radical restructuring of the loan
approval procedure and the Bank’'s new

599.0 .
centralized loan approval system.

4029

In the field of new products, in 2001 the
Bank offered a number of highly successful
A mortgage packages (Ethno-Housing 1 with
1998 1999 2000 2001 fixed interest rate for the first year; two

innovative variable-rate Ethno-Housing CAP
products; and Ethno-Housing Fixed installments — variable term) via new delivery channels,
such as the granting of mortgages via third parties and mortgages to employees of public
utilities and other large corporations.

rNBG market share in consumer lending Consumer Iending

A key component in NBG's success in retail
banking was its performance in the sphere

22.7%
i of consumer loans.

205% New disbursements in 2001 totaled € 725.5
million compared with € 509.2 million in the
previous year, up 42.5%. The consumer
loan balance stood at € 996.9 million at 31
December 2001, up 42% on 2000. It may be
noted that annual growth in consumer loans
in the domestic market as a whole did not
exceed 30%, thus showing that the Bank has

f

ish . . . .
i ;‘;;,.;g":s;’"” loan disbursements increased its market share in this segment.
¢

16.2%

1998 1988

These results were achieved thanks largely
to the use of new marketing methods. For
instance, 60% of consumer loan sales in
2001 were generated via third-party
agreements.

509.2

3137

Alongside the impressive growth in the
consumer lending balance, there was also a
: very marked improvement in the quality of
2001 the portfolio, due largely to the radical
restructuring of the Bank's credit procedure.

169.6

1998 1999 2000

Credit cards

Throughout the past year, via its subsidiary National Management & Organization (Ethnocarta),
NBG continued its aggressive marketing policy for products related to payment systems and
credit cards. The Bank’s objective was to strengthen yet further its leading position in the
issuance of credit and debit cards, as well as the market share of merchants and acceptance of
NBG-issued cards.

The growth in turnover in the past year was remarkable. No fewer than 260 000 new cards were
issued, while cards now in circulation total 865 000 compared with 629 000 in 2000. It is worth




noting that over the three-year period 1999-2001 a total of 730 000 new cards were issued,
while growth in the number of cards in circulation over the same period surpassed 160%.
Similarly, there was a substantial increase in the credit card lending balance. At 31 December
2001, outstandings (excluding mature loan payments) totalled € 694 million compared with
€ 495 million at the end of 2000, up 40.2%.

NBG’s success in this segment has been based on two key platforms: a) sales of pre-approved
cards to the Group’s customers by maximizing the Bank’s cross-selling potential, and b)
alternative marketing methods and automated instant credit procedures that provide a means of
approach to new customers, and cooperation with telemarketing firms.

The Bank’s alternative marketing policy has proved itself to be particularly effective, as the level
of sales via these channels exceeded 80% of total sales. In the sphere of customer service, the
Bank instailed an IVR (interactive voice response) system in its telephone information service
for customers with credit cards and card-handling business partners.

Lastly, the network of merchants that cooperate with the Bank was broadened. During the
course of the year, no less than 18 800 new POS machines were installed at various locations
throughout the country. At 31 December 2001, the total number of POS machines in operation
stood at 33 000, more than double the figure at the end of 2000. The Bank’s merchant partners
in this business segment now number one hundred thousand, while corresponding acquiring
totalled € 880.4 million and earnings € 20.3 million, up 14% on 2000.

5.3 Asset management

The Group is a market leader in Greece in the asset management segment, which includes
deposits, private banking and mutual funds.

Deposits

Private deposits and repos grew by 10.2% in 2001 (from € 36 454 million to € 40 174 million),
thus affirming the dynamism of the Bank’s network and indicating the confidence shown in it by
its customers. Savings deposits were kept at levels surpassing 50% of total amounts owed to
customers. The principal development in 2001 was the 74.7% growth in repos, which impacted
negatively on time deposits. Moreover, in 2001 new guaranteed capital investment products
were offered to customers. Finally, sight deposits posted substantial growth of approximately
50%.

Breakdown of deposits in 2001 Market share of drachma, EURO and FX deposits 1999-2001
Repos Sight
14.8% L 9.9%
31.0% 31.3% 29.8%
Time
23.4%
_Savings
52.1%
1999 2000 2001

Private Banking

The NBG Group offers a full range of private banking services to high net worth individuals. In
February 2001, a new private banking unit was launched with a view to supporting and
coordinating all the private banking teams of the branch network (these operate in major
selected branches) with a view to enhancing the services offered.

Cooperation with NBG's Treasury and other companies of the Group (Mutual Funds, National
Securities, and foreign subsidiaries) has created a wide range of investment products that are
now available thanks to the Group’s activity in the domestic and international money and capital
markets, capable of meeting customer needs regarding risk, desired returns and degree of
investment diversification and dispersion.
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Mutual funds

Diethniki Mutual Fund Management S.A. manages a total of 15 funds under the Delos brand
name, offering customers access to a full range of investment instruments in the domestic and
global money and capital markets. Besides the traditional range of mutual fund products,

Diethniki MFM offers alternative
investment channels in order to more
effectively meet investors’' needs.

Market share of fund management: 1999-2001

16.8% For instance, in May 2001 the company
5 launched a new Delos investment product
comprising four different combinations of
mutual funds whose returns and risk
characteristics vary for a range of investor
profiles.

15.4%

Since the end of 2001, the Bank and
1999 2000 2001 Diethniki MFM have been marketing open-

ended mutual fund products of the Bank’s
subsidiaries to the Greek public. These comprise NBG International Funds SICAV and NBG
Synesis SICAV, which include umbrella funds that offer a broad range of investment options,
whether in equities, bonds and money market instruments, whose reach extends to the major
international money and capital markets.

Despite the unfavorable climate in the Greek and international capital markets, Diethniki MFM
managed to hold its market share close to the levels of the previous year, at 15.8%. At 31
December 2001, total assets under management stood at € 4.2 billion. (DIAGRAM 3.3.3)

The launch of alternative delivery networks, continued broadening of products on offer, and
exploitation of the latest investment instruments should all lead to further growth in funds under
management, thereby ensuring the Group’s leading position in the Greek fund management
segment..

5.4 Payment systems

In 2001, the Bank forged strong working relationships with various insurance institutions (whose
coverage of the insurance market totals over 75%) and other large customers of the public and
private sectors, building on the fact that it enjoys the confidence of its customers in the
effectiveness of its payment systems, traditional and modern. This sphere of the Bank's work
was assisted significantly by the implementation of one-stop service via the new banking post of
account officer and the provision of after-sales service, combined with the promotion of payment
facilities such as our standing order, electronic credit, third-party, Ethno-files, and Ethno-
payments payment systems.

At the same time, electronic payment systems for the wider public were promoted and improved
with a view to creating more efficient service in retail banking, reducing the scale of transaction
processing, and creating a long-term source of revenues. In particular, e-banking services were
also extended to include facilities for making VAT, credit card and insurance policy payments
via the internet and ATMs.

Finally, it should be noted that all the payment systems were adjusted swiftly and successfully to
the euro, demonstrating the Bank’s efficiency in switching to the new currency.

5.5 Investment banking

In 2001, the NBG Group was active in all the key spheres of investment banking (capital market
operations, consulting, debt issues), maintaining a leading position in the market and offering
top-quality services to its customers via the Bank and its subsidiaries ETEVA, National
Securities, and NBG International.




Underwriting and consulting

The year 2001 was by no means an easy time for the sector, with competition intensifying and
the capital markets at home and abroad labouring under adverse conditions. [t is indicative that
the number of public offerings fell from 50 in 2000 to 24 in 2001, with underwritten funds
dropping by 72.6% from € 3 016.9 million to € 826.4 million. Despite these conditions, the Group
held on to its leading position, acting as coordinator, lead manager, or underwriter in 23 of the
24 issues of 2001, with a trading value of € 144.5 million and market share reaching 17.5%.
Included among these were the two most important issues of the year, for which the Bank acted
as global coordinator and lead manager. The NBG Group was the leading Greek underwriter in
the Public Power Corp (PPC) combined share offering, while the Bank acted as financial advisor
to PPC in its privatisation plans and quest for a strategic partner.

In the sphere of government and corporate debt, of the five underwriters for the Greek
government 10-year bond issued in January 2001 NBG had the widest distribution of sales to
domestic and international investors. Furthermore, via its subsidiary NBGI, the Group
participated as underwriter in twelve eurobond issues, including issues by the Greek
government, banks and Balkan states.

Besides providing underwriting services, the Group’s investment arm ETEVA is active in other
areas of investment banking such as consulting services for the sale, acquisition, restructuring
and merger of businesses, for the government's privatisation programme, and for project
finance.

Custodian services

The Bank provides custodian services to private investors in Greece and institutional investors
in Greece and abroad who trade in shares listed on the Athens Stock Exchange. It also
provides custodian services fo institutional investors dealing in Greek government bonds.

Despite the adverse climate in the Greek capital market in 2001, the value of trading on behalf
of customers as well as the value of their portfolios grew significantly, with the result that NBG
holds first place in the corresponding Greek market. The value of the custodian portfolio grew
42% (from € 35.5 billion in 2000 to € 50.5 billion in 2001), principally due to the increase in the
number of portfolios of Greek institutional investors under custody. Furthermore, the value of
trading carried out for the benefit of investors increased from € 73.1 billion in 2000 to € 247.1
billion in 2001, up 238%, reflecting primarily the growth in Greek government bond and Euro-
MTS transactions by overseas institutionals (mainly banks). At 31 December 2001, NBG was
providing custodian services to 148 Greek and 59 foreign institutional investors. This figure is
the highest for the Greek market and the Bank intends to build further on this success by
attracting new institutional and private customers.

Brokerage

The Group covers the entire spectrum of brokerage activities in Greece through its subsidiary
National Securities, which is a member of the ASE and a primary dealer in the Athens
Derivatives Exchange (ADEX).

Despite the sharp decline in ASE trading volumes in 2001 (down 58%), National Securities
managed to hold its market share little changed at 6.8% compared with 7.2% in 2000, coming a
close second in the domestic market. The development of new products and services (trading
on the main international stock exchanges, purchase of stocks on credit), and the exploitation of
traditional and alternative delivery channels (the NBG network, branches of National Securities
SA, and cooperation with stockbrokers and mutual fund managers) should contribute to the
achievement of strategic goals, which include maintaining its dominant place in the domestic
stock market.

5.6 Venture Capital

NBG is active in the sphere of venture capital principally through its subsidiary NBG Venture
Capital S.A. and to a lesser degree through NBGI. NBG Venture Capital was launched in 2000
and aims to become the leading venture capital force in the Greek market and southeast
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Europe in general. The company, usually via minority holdings, focuses on participating in fast-
growing businesses that are active in particularly dynamic sectors. It seeks to create value in
the companies in which it participates by liquidating its holdings either through listing the
businesses on the stock market or selling the business to a strategic partner or other investor.

Besides the NBG Greek Fund and the NBG Balkan Fund, which were launched in 1998 (with
initial capital of € 44 million and € 14.7 million respectively), NBG Venture Capital set up the
NBG Technology Fund in 2001, in which the Bank has a € 30 million hoiding. This fund invests
in technology companies that are in their early stages of development and in companies that
exploit technology and are seeking to boost their turnover. In the context of this business move,
NBG has entered into cooperation with software company Microsoft. Furthermore, jointly with
Vectis Capital, NBG set up iVen with a view to aiding newly launched businesses to achieve
their goals more rapidly.

Finally, NBGI Private Equity Limited, a subsidiary of NBGI, manages the NBG Private Equity
Fund LP (initial capital: € 100 million), which targets investment opportunities identified
principally in small and medium companies operating in western Europe.

5.7 Treasury activities

The money market business of the NBG Group is carried out in London and Athens, as well as
by the Treasuries of various of the Bank’s subsidiaries. This business includes dealing in Greek
government bonds, foreign exchange, interbank products, and derivatives. It works alongside its
subsidiary NBG International, which participates in international issues of sovereign and
corporate eurobonds.

The NBG Group has established itself as the principal trader of Greek debt (government and
corporate). In 2001, NBG held first place as dealer of Greek government securities traded
electronically through the Electronic Secondary Securities Market (HDAT), with a market share
of 18.9%. The Treasury manages the Bank’s bond portfolio and is responsible for the Bank's
strategy in the sphere of corporate bonds.

NBG also holds a commanding position in currency trading and in interbank deposits where it
has established itself as a primary dealer in Europe and acts as the main liquidity link between
Greece and Europe. NBG is the only Greek bank that participates on a daily basis as a panel
bank with Euribor.

Finally, the Treasury has also been contributing to the Bank's efforts to enhance services for its
customers by offering investment products in the form of structured derivatives and risk
management products to its clientele (institutional, corporate and wealthy individuals).

5.8 International Activities

in 2001, the NBG Group was active in 18 countries outside Greece, via its branches,
representative offices and subsidiaries. The Group controlied 7 banks and 8 financial services
providers, which together numbered 359 units and employed a total of 5 588 individuals.

The Bank's overseas strategy aims to forge the Bank into a key regional force in the Balkans
and southeast Europe and a dynamic player in the major international money and capital
markets. It also endeavors to broaden and diversify its sources of income. The past year was a
period in which this strategy was further implemented and deepened. Special emphasis was
placed on renewal of staff in the network and the quality of senior management hirings that
meet the specific needs and demands of the markets in which the particular units operate.

in the Balkans, the Bank’s presence has long-term goals in line with the economic development
of the region. However, the NBG Group’s presence continues to be relatively small, given that
the Group’s assets in the region account for just 3% of the total. The services provided in the
region are simple, and limited mainly to acceptance of deposits, though preparations are
currently being made for the launch of retail banking services as soon as conditions allow. It is
worth noting that with the introduction of the euro there was a substantial increase in foreign




currency deposits — chiefly euro deposits — with the Bank’s units in the region (principally with
our subsidiaries United Bulgarian Bank and Stopanska Bank). The level of these deposits is
indicative of the confidence that the subsidiaries — and by extension the parent Bank — enjoy
among the public in these areas.

Percentage participation of overseas subsidiaries and NBG's subsidiary United Bulgarian
branches in Group earnings Bank is the second largest bank in
12.3% Bulgaria in terms of assets, and is

already the technological leader. For
instance, at the end of 2001 it ran 40%
of the Bulgarian banking system’s ATMs
and POS machines. The Bank has also
been promoting the issuance of a bond
denominated in the local currency, in
which the newly established domestic
insurance funds are indicating lively
2000 2001 interest.

4.4%

Stopanska Bank, NBG’s subsidiary in
FYROM, is the largest bank in the country. In 2001, its reorganization and restructuring was
advanced further, together with the clean-up of its portfolio.

Following the deregulation of interest rates in the Cypriot market, National Bank of Greece
(Cyprus) moved fast to take advantage of the new opportunities that have been created in retail
banking, offering new products such as housing loans and mutual funds.

The strategy of the international network of the Bank (branches and representative dffices) and
its subsidiaries in the EU, North America, South Africa and Australia focused primarily on the
rationalization of its network structure as well as on enriching the services offered. For this
reason, a number of units — mainly representative offices — were closed down.

NBG's most important subsidiary, Atlantic Bank of New York, improved its position in the US
market. In 2001, ABNY decided to acquire Yonkers Financial Corporation. ABNY broadened its
range of operations, both by increasing the number of its units and by expanding alternative
delivery channels for its products (via ATMs and e-banking), and offering new products and
services.

The profits of the NBG Group’s overseas network grew impressively in 2001, more than
doubling from € 42.5 million in 2000 to € 86 million in 2001.

This year, National Bank of Greece aims to further enhance the efficiency of its international
network by upgrading its infrastructure, introducing new products and further broadening its
cross-selling potential, both among the Group’s units abroad and between the overseas units
and those based in Greece. One of the Bank's key goals is to establish the Group as an
intermediary for regional “risk” in developed markets.

5.9 Other activities

In 2001, the NBG Group further rationalized its real estate management, disposing of various
real estate assets that are not related to its core activities.

The Bank owns 2 028 properties, the bulk of which are buildings. These are monitored with the
aid of the SAP/R3 system, which is continuously being improved and extended, as well as with
a system that helps determine the objective value of such properties. Of the total, 343 (17%), at
a value of € 235 million (71% of the total value), are in use by the Bank itself, while the
remainder have been acquired by auction and are gradually being sold off, thus contributing to
the funding of the Bank’s main activities. Real estate appears in the balance sheet at acquisition
price, which, after depreciation, is in the region of € 330 million, well below their market value.
Furthermore, subsidiary Ethniki Kefalaiou S.A. (Asset & Liability Management Co.) manages
131 Bank properties worth € 50.9 million.
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During the past year, the Bank sold 189 properties worth € 96.6 million, reaping gains of € 65.1
million, while Ethniki Kefalaiou sold 26 properties worth € 10.2 million, making a profit of € 1.1
million.

Particular mention should be made of the cooperation between Ektenepol, which specializes in
real estate management, and National Real Estate, in managing and maximizing the potential of
the substantial real estate portfolio of the latter. National Real Estate, which specializes in the
provision of warehousing facilities, with a 40% market share {(not including goods in transit),
managed to attain a high level of warehouse capacity utilization in 2001, at 90.5%.

5.10 Technological infrastructure and capital expenditure

In 2001, the Bank’s substantial technological infrastructure advanced in line with the targets set,
which are comparable with those of the largest European banks.

Particular emphasis was placed on ensuring that all computer systems would switch to the euro
environment smoothly. The Bank runs over 200 different computer systems and applications, all
of which converted successfully and were up and running on E-day.

Similarly, the component of the IRIS deposit and loan management system that handles
housing and consumer loans was put into operation, while the system is being further
developed and adjusted to handle business loans and maximize the benefits deriving from the
Bank's Customer Relationship Administration system. The Bank considers this a major project
whose benefits lie in: the implementation of integrated procedures; flexible management of
products offered through the system; the creation of automated operations to support its
procedures and exercise of internal controls; and automated service of dues on loans, via linked
deposit accounts.

In addition to the above, the Bank’'s branch and international network made substantial
advances in upgrading their computer systems with the installation and extension of the Globus
system. Globus has been installed in 12 branches in 7 different countries (Albania, Bulgaria,
Egypt, France, the UK, Romania and Yugoslavia), and in 2002 it will be installed in a further 186
branches of 3 subsidiaries operating in Canada, the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia,
and Bulgaria. The servicing of all banking tasks by a single computer platform is the major
benefit of this infrastructure project.

Capital expenditure

(€ millions) 2001 2000 1999
Computer hardware 23.4 18.1 307
Software 22.6 20.6 245
Reorganization 6.3 7.7 4.5
Telecommunications 4.0 2.3 7.3
Total 56.3 48.7 67.0

5.11 The Bank and the community

Again, in 2001, National Bank of Greece was pleased to support the arts, the sciences,
research, sports, the conservation of the Greek cultural heritage, and actions related to
environmental protection.

A variety of events related to the preservation and study of written sources for Greek history
were organized. These included a series of seminars on Greek paleography held in various
towns in Greece, as well as field trips arranged for the purpose of photographing manuscripts
and historical archives in public, ecclesiastical and private collections in Greece and abroad.

The Bank provided further support for the 10-year conservation project on the Minoan wall
paintings recovered from the excavations at Akrotiri on the island of Santorini. It assisted the




Greek community of Perth, Australia, in acquiring the photographic and report archive of
journalist T. Economou. Assistance was also supplied to the celebrations organised by the
Ministry of Culture on the occasion of the European Days of Cultural Heritage.

The Bank also supported a number of projects related to children’s health and welfare. Various
buildings and spaces owned by the Bank — for instance, the Melas Building in the centre of
Athens, as well as a number of cultural centres around the country — were made available for
free use by certain organisations that carry out social work, such as the Society for the
Protection of Spastics, the Foundation for the Child and the Family, the Therapy Centre for
Dependent Individuals, and the Society for the Protection of Children with Special Needs.

A number of regional libraries owned by educational and other institutions in Greece and abroad
were supplied with publications produced by the Bank, its Cultural Foundation and Historical
Archive.

The Bank has also been supporting a three-year programme run by the Centre for Educational
Research whose objective is to reassess the teaching of the classical Greek language and
culture in high schools. It has also supported a research project at the Democritus Research
Centre into the development of a radio-diagnostic method for the detection of Alzheimer’s
Disease. Lastly, the Bank is supporting a research project at the London School of Economics
and Political Science on “The Greek Economy in the Euro Zone”.

Besides the above activities and events, the Bank supported a broad range of events in music,
theatre and the visual arts via its sponsorship programme in 2001.

In the sphere of the environment, NBG stepped up its efforts in 2001 to reduce the
environmental consequences of its activities. Its new buildings are designed to reduce energy
consumption to a minimum and are constructed from environmentally friendly materials. Also,
the new air-conditioning systems in our units are low energy-burning and clean. Similarly, the
Bank supports and finances environmental protection and alternative energy-source
programmes {(Aeolian parks, hydroelectric plants) in certain islands where there is a shortage of
energy resources.

Finally, in the conviction that the 2004 Olympic Games are not merely a sporting event, but
have a far wider social and cultural significance, the Bank undertook to be the exclusive
sponsor, through to 2005, of the Hellenic Weight-Lifting Federation sc as to support athletes in
the various member associations active around Greece. |t is also providing sponsorship for
track-event champions and Olympic medallists, as well as the Ensemble gymnastics team.
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6. Risk management and Internal Control
System




6.1 Risk management

National Bank of Greece attaches great importance to effective and up-to-date Risk
Management to ensure stability and continuity in its business.

The Bank’s activity in the Balkans and southeast Europe implies an increased level of risk,
given that these countries are not members of the OECD and should, under the current
regulatory framework, be approached differently.

Furthermore, NBG's expansion in retail banking, with continuing growth in its range of products,
means that its loan portfolio is also growing both quantitatively and qualitatively, thus generating
a need for increasingly sophisticated risk management.

The listing of NBG’s stock on the New York Stock Exchange has created more exacting
demands, in line with US GAAP, as regards the presentation of the Bank's results. In adopting
these accounting principles the Bank’s financial figures can be readily compared with those of
other major corporations. At the same time, NBG is now seen to have taken its place in a truly
global market whose benefits it will endeavour to maximise.

Lastly, the Bank closely follows international developments regarding the revision of the
framework for Banking Supervision, and has contributed to the final proposals of the Basel
Commiitee via its membership of the Hellenic Bank Association and the Institute of International
Finance.

In line with international practice, the Bank manages market, credit and operational risk as
described below.

Market Risk

NBG has implemented the latest methods for measuring and monitoring interest rate and other
market risks in its trading portfolioc.

The market risk of the Bank’s trading portfolio is monitored on a day-to-day basis using the
“Value at Risk" (VaR) method. Market risk is the risk arising from uncertainty regarding change
in various market parameters (such as interest rates, stock prices, exchange rates etc.) and
their correlations.

TRADING PORTFOLIO VaR
{confidence level 99%, holding period 1 day)
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The Bank consistently seeks to hedge interest rate risk in its fixed-rate Government bond
portfolio principally by means of derivative instruments. Thus, despite the significant price
volatility of Greek bonds last year, potential losses arising from interest rate risk in the trading
portfolio did not exceed € 21 million in 2001.
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In 2001, the Bank’s trading portfolio was expanded through placements in international
corporate bonds. The Bank invested in high credit rating issues from international rating
agencies such as Moody's, Standard & Poor's. At the end of 2001, NBG’s corporate bond
portfolio had an average credit rating of A, equivaient to that of the Greek State.

Breakdown of corporate bond portofolio by credit ; Breakdown of corporate bond portfolio by sector of
rating (S&P) | activity
Automolbile
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Credit risk

NBG's management of credit risk, i.e. the risk which may arise from the counterparty’s potential
inability to meet its contractual obligations, focused on the following in 2001:

+ The systematic monitoring, quantitatively and qualitatively, of the Bank’s corporate loan
portfolio on the basis of NBG’s Credit Rating System per category of credit risk: NBG’s
system estimates credit risk by linking corporate borrower creditworthiness to the
corresponding collateral and a number of other credit risk factors to obtain credit risk
weightings. This method enables the Bank to measure contingent loss from its corporate
loan portfolio, to identify and analyse the causes of any significant shifts in risk per category,
and to draw results and conclusions that can then be applied to its credit policy.

+ The improvement in Internal Credit Rating Systems with a view to enhancing the Bank's
investment decision-making and developing efficient loan pricing and capital allocation
methods on the basis of information on borrower creditworthiness: Accordingly, in
collaboration with Moody's, the Bank is setting up a new Internal Credit Rating System,
known as Moody's Risk Advisor (MRA). The new system allows the Bank to estimate a
series of credit risk parameters (probability of default, loss given default, and exposure at
default), thus enabling it to estimate expected loss as well as iis regulatory capital
requirements.

Country Risk

The close monitoring of risk undertaken outside the Greek borders is a necessary prerequisite
for the Bank’s strong presence in the Balkans. Country risk is a form of credit risk associated
with the counterparty’s inability to meet its contractual obligations due either to government
policy measures or to special circumstances as may prevail in each country (such as currency
devaluation or political instability). Accordingly, the NBG Group closely monitors its levels of
exposure to country risk arising, for example, from NBG’s capital to contribution branches, the
Bank’s participation in the share capital of local subsidiaries, loans and interbank placements,
commercial transactions with counterparties (companies, banks) domiciled in these countries,
and positions in securities issued in them.

The country risk undertaken by the NBG Group in emerging markets was limited and
represented a mere 4.7% of the total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2001.

Operational risk

Operational risk, i.e. the risk that may arise from inadequate or inefficient internal procedures,
human error, system malfunction or other exogenous factars, is expected to present a major
challenge to the banking sector in the years ahead. According to the Basel Committee’s on
banking supervision new proposals, the Bank shall be required to hold regulatory capital for




operational risk as well. Furthermore, the new regulatory framework proposes qualitative
measures to effectively manage, and quantitative methods to identify and estimate operational
risk.

The Bank has followed these developments closely and is preparing to adopt and implement a
specific method for calculating capital requirements. To that effect, a database is being created
for monitoring losses that may arise as a result of operational risk, and an overall framework for
the management of operational risk in the Bank and the Group is being designed.

Regulatory compliance

In 2001, the Bank continued to focus on aligning the operations of the NBG Group with the
provisions of the current institutional framework and internationally accepted Codes of Principle
and Rules of Conduct.

Particular emphasis was placed on the implementation of effective guidelines and procedures
- for combating money laundering. A Money Laundering Manual for all the officers and staff of the
NBG Group was issued as part of the Bank’s overall effort to raise awareness regarding money
laundering-related issues.

On the domestic front, the Bank sought to ensure that its operations and practices were in line
with the statutory provisions on personal data protection and banking secrecy.

A framework of cooperation was set up to coordinate the steps-taken for the Group's foreign
branches and subsidiaries’ compliance with the regulatory requirements of their host countries.

Lastly, the current framework of compliance governing the operation of the financial sector
companies of the NBG Group was thoroughly presented and analysed in a conference
organised by the Bank in November 2001.

Capital adequacy

At the end of 2001, the Group’s capital adequacy ratios indicated that it maintains a strong
capital base, capable of supporting its future growth. The Total and Tier | Capital Ratio of the
Bank Stood at 11.3% and 9.9% respectively, as compared with the floor of 8% and 4% set by
the Bank of Greece.

CAPITAL ADEQUACY
(€ millions) " NBG Group
2001 2000 2001 2000
A. Risk-weighted assets
Trading portfolio
Market risks 17901 27981 2604.1 3530.0
Credit risks 13719 761.5 16626 976.5
Total trading portfolio 3162.0 3559.6 4 266.7 4 506.5
Total investment portfolio (Credit risk) 177782 1487586 19796.9 17 349.4
Total risk-weighted assets 20940.2 18435.2 24063.6 21 855.9
B. Regulatory capital
Tier | capital 20778 20558 2170.4 24287
Total capital 23625 23194 24449 2685.6
C. Capital adequacy ratios
Tier | capital ratio 9.9% 11.2% 9.0% 11.1%
Total capital ratio 11.3% 12.6% 10.2% 12.3%

™ Provisional figures
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The reduction in the Bank’s Total Capital Ratio (from 12.6% to 11.3%) reflects the increase in
credit risk weighted assets (Investment Portfolio), resulting from the expansion in its retail
banking activities and interbank placements.

On the other hand, credit and market risk weighted assets in the trading portfolio declined by
11.2%, principally on account of the introduction of the single European currency, which served
to eliminate FX risk associated with the national currencies of the eurozone, at the same time
demonstrating the effectiveness of the Bank’s policy in hedging interest rate risk in its trading
portfolio.

NBG & NBG GROUP CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIOS Furthermore, despite the 12.2%
) reduction in NBG’s net asset value
16 1 15.1 relative to 2000, as a result of the

cancellation of the own shares, its
regulatory capital increased by
1.9%. This marginal increase is due
to the fact that, pursuant to
regulatory requirements, the value
of own shares was largely
subtracted from the Bank’s
regulatory  capital in  2000.
Accordingly, the above mentioned
cancellation had no significant
impact on the Bank's regulatory
capital in 2001.
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the Group stood at 10.2%, while
Tier | Capital Ratio reached 9%. This reflects principally the 14.1% increase in the credit risk
weighted assets (Investment Portfolio) stemming from the expansion of the Group's operations.
By contrast, the trading portfolio risk weighted assets showed a reduction of 5.3% relative to the
previous year, due to the more effective management of interest rate risk and the elimination of
FX risk.

6.2 Asset and Liability management

Since October 2000 the Bank has had a state-of-the-art informations system at its disposal for
asset and liability management (by Sendero). At regular intervals, reports are prepared for the
Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) by means of which the Bank is able to assess alternative
scenarios regarding the impact of changes in the economic environment on interest income and
strategy. The Bank is also able to conduct analysis of the sensitivity of its income and expenses
to sudden changes in interest rates and other variables (FX rates, interest margins etc ).

Duration on a repricing basis In 2001, preparations for the inclusion of

fin years) the Bank's branches abroad into the

— system moved ahead, and it is projected

S - that the entire process will be completed
before the end of 2002.

Domestic loans D 0.35 . . e
At the same time, the Asset & Liability
management system provides additional

Repos D oo information, such as estimates of duration
of loan portfolios and market valuation

Time deposits E] 0.24 which are vital tools for calculating the
interest rate risk contained in the Bank's
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The Bank is also expanding and
developing its internal funds transfer pricing system. This is being done as part of its programme




to upgrade Financial Reporting to Management and aims to identify the sources of net interest
income. This constitutes a basic step in the process of determining the profitability of the Bank
per product, per unit and per customer, and adjusting policy accordingly.

6.3 Internal Control System

A key concern of the Bank is to further enhance and upgrade its internal control system. NBG's
system of internal controls, modelled on internationally accepted banking stardards, is a range
of control mechanisms and procedures covering the entire spectrum of the Bank’s operations so
as to ensure the efficient and secure flow of its business. The internal control system is based
on the following principles:

e A proper business structure tailored to the nature, the scope and the complexity of the
Bank’s operations and supported by rules. These rules, in the form of regulatory texts,
govern the Bank’'s organisation and officers and define the mission, the duties and the
authority limits at each level of authority, both individual and collective.

¢ The implementation of built-in control mechanisms, both proactive and retroactive, across
the entire spectrum of the Bank’s operations, transactions and procedures. Accordingly,
each task is regulated by specific rules and supported by detailed guidelines and
instructions, and each procedure is designed on the basis of the ‘four eyes principle’ (i.e.
requires two individuals to be jointly involved, directly or indirectly) and accompanied by the
issue of control sheets and the use of test keys and codes. These control mechanisms
operate as “safety nets”, which enable the prevention or early detection of any errors,
irregularities, omissions, misuse or abuse.

» The continuous monitoring and evaluation of the performance of the internal contro!
mechanisms by the Bank’s Internal Audit and Risk Management Divisions. The two
Divisions, which have distinct and complementary roles, exchange information and work in
close cooperation with each other.

Specifically:

¢ The Risk Management Division is entrusted with the task of monitoring, assessing, and
developing strategies designed to mitigate all kinds of risk associated with the diverse
operations of the Bank and its Group.

¢ The Bank’s Internal Audit Division carries out regular and extraordinary audits and
investigations, by which it evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the control
mechanisms and procedures implemented by the Bank. It seeks to identify weaknesses that
may exist in the control systems and recommends steps for rectifying them. It also evaluates
the efficiency of the various Units and the quality of their loan portfolios.

The adequacy and efficiency of the Bank's internal control system is also monitored and
controlled by the Bank’s Audit Committee. The Audit Committee, which is responsible for the
reliability of the Bank’s financial statements, provides a channel of communication between the
Board of Directors, the management, the internal auditors and the external auditors of the Bank.

Given the above, the Bank has managed to develop the proper internal control environment and
business culture that enable it to maintain a smooth business flow in line with the regulatory
framework that governs its operations.
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7. Financial Statements of National Bank of
Greece




7.1 NBG financial analysis
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The net interest margin in 1988, 1898 and 2000 has
been adjusted without gains on bond trading to facilitate
comparison.

Review

e The Bank’s operating profit improved
markedly in 2001. Despite the 26%
decline in pre-tax profits, from € 874.6
million in 2000 to € 647.5 million in 2001,
the operating results of the Bank,
excluding equity trading, rose
substantially by 24.5%.

» Return on average equity, although lower
than in 2000 (2001: 19.4%, 2000: 27.4%),
remains high compared with other
European banks.

¢ The decline in gains on equity trading
impacted negatively on return on average
assets, which fell from 2.15% in 2000 to
1.42% in 2001.For the same reasons, the
cost/income ratioc rose to 56.6%, as
compared with the Bank’s historical low
of 47.1% in 2000. If profit on financial
operations is excluded from the
calculation, the index shows an
improvement, as it moved down to 73.1%
from 78.3% in 2000.

¢ Net interest margin rose to its highest
level of the past three years, reaching
2.19%, up 24 basis points. It is noted that
in the financial statements for 2001, gains
on bond trading are not included in
interest income.

e In 2001, the Bank's assets grew by
10.2%, to almost € 48 billion. This growth
reflects in large part the increase in the
loan and corporate bond portfolio, and
was funded by the 10.2% growth in
deposits and repos.

¢ The Bank’s equity declined by 12.2%
owing to the two successive reductions in
the Bank’s share capital.

Results of operations

Total operating income in 2001 stood at
€ 1558.2 million compared with € 1 756.1
million in 2000, down 11.3%. This reduction
reflects largely the decline in income on
financial transactions, which fell by € 348.6
million, and, in particular, gains on equity
trading (2001: € 45.3 million, 2000: € 399.8
million). If the latter are excluded from the
calculation, operating income shows an
increase of 11.5%, due largely to growth in
interest income by € 172.2 million.
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On the other hand, commissions income

reatdonn effnsome 2001 oher presented only a marginal reduction of 4%
Nijn"a':g;“’” operating (2001. € 271.7 million, 2000: € 283.0 million).
operations " feome The reduction stemmed principally from the

e \ negative stock market climate, which led to a
substantial drop in capital market fees and
Netinterest commissions, and commissions deriving from
Net 1" S mutual fund management. This negative
con::iifns/’ / development was offset, however, by the
o from | substantial growth in commissions deriving
securiles - from retail banking and business lending

2% operations.

Growth in staff costs was restrained, at 5.2%, while general administrative expenses grew by
6.4%, despite the cost of introducing the euro, bringing operating expenses in 2001 to € 790.4
million compared with € 749.4 million in 2000 (up 5.5%).

Balance Sheet

The Balance Sheet at 31 December 2001 reflects the strategic choices of the Bank: high
liquidity, increased lending, a stable deposit base and capital adequacy. Loans grew by 9.5%,
reaching € 16 219 million compared with € 14 818 million in 2000, with the focus shifting
increasingly to household lending. For example, the consumer credit balance grew 41.9%
(2001: € 1 777 million, 2000: € 1 252 million), with the corresponding housing credit balance
increasing by € 914 million (2001: € 4 614 million, 2000: € 3 700 million). On the other hand,
lending to business was broadly unchanged. At the same time, investments in corporate bonds
more than doubled in 2001 (€ 1 908 million compared with € 748 millicn in 2000). There was
also a substantial improvement in the quality of the loan portfolio, evidenced by the reduction in
loans in arrears (after provisions) as a percentage of the total portfolio (impaired loans: 2.2% in
2001). Finally, the government bond portfolio remained broadly unchanged at € 12 941 million
compared with € 12 611 million in 2000.

Amounts owed to customers grew markedly in 2001, totaling € 40 534 million, up 10.2%. This
reflects primarily the growth in repos, a general feature of the banking sector in the previous
year. Sight deposits grew substantially, up 49.8%, as well as savings, up 12.9%, testimony to
the confidence of the saving public in the Bank. Finally, the 12.2% decline in the Bank’s equity
reflected the two share cancellations (a total of 12.9 million shares) carried out by the Bank last
year. Despite this move, the Bank’s capital ratio remained high in 2001, at 11.3% (2000:
12.6%).




7.2 Financial Statements

Balance Sheet

€ millions Notes 2001 2000 %

ASSETS

Cash in hand, balances with Central Bank 2, 2101.0 6899.8 -69.5%
Treasury bills and other bills 129.5 20.5 +531.7%
Loans and advances to credit institutions 3. 7662.2 45498 +68.4%
Reverse repos 1990.7 259.7 +666.5%
Loans and advances to customers 4. 16 388.2 14966.8 +9.5%
Less: Provisions for doubtful debts 5. (783.9) (759.3) +3.2%
Debt securities and other fixed-income securities 6. 15 0991 13485.0 +12.0%
Shares and other variable yield securities 7. 552.0 401.0 +37.7%
Participating interests 7. 296.3 290.7 +1.9%
Shares in affiliated undertakings 7. 1668.6 15755 +5.9%
Intangible assets 8. 100.2 92.0 +8.9%
Fixed assets 9. 353.1 3285 +7.5%
Own shares and bonds 10. 14 5112 -99.7%
Other assets 11. 19759 564.6 +250.0%
Prepayments and accrued income 12. 312.2 2139 +46.0%
Total 47 846.5 43399.7 +10.2%
LIABILITIES

Amounts owed to credit institutions 13. 3126.6 1966.1 +59.0%
Amounts owed to customers 14. 40 534.0 36781.0 +10.2%
Debts evidenced by certificates 15. 53.3 754  -29.3%
Other liabilities 16. 1396.5 15772 -11.5%
Accruals and deferred income 17. 225.0 180.3 +24.8%
Provisions for liabilities and charges 18. 15.2 181 -16.0%
Provisions for general banking risks 18. 6.9 6.5 +6.2%
Subordinated liabilities 19. 223.3 2135  +4.6%
Equity 20. 22657 25816 -12;2%

Total 47 846.5 43399.7 +10.2%
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NBG Equity

€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Paid-up capital 1026.3 998.0 +2.8%
Share premium account 36.0 482.3 -92.5%
Reserves:
a. Statutory reserve 142.3 119.3 +19.3%
b. Extraordinary reserves 62.5 117.2 -46.7%
¢. Tax — exempt reserve 7241 622.0 +16.4%
d. Own — share reserve 14 - -
Fixed assets revaluation reserve 86.4 114.6 -24.6%
Fixed assets investment subsidy 0.2 0.6 -66.7%
Retained earnings 186.5 67.6 +175.9%
Mandatorily convertible bond (L. 2441/96) - 60.0 -100.0%
Total 2 265.7 2581.6 -12.2%
NBG off-balance sheet items
€ millions 2001 2000 %
Contingent liabilities from guarantees and assets pledged as 17 394 9 12 043.1 +44.4%
collateral
Commitments arising from sale and repurchase agreements 02 0.6 -66.7%
Other off-balance sheet items:
ltems in custody and safe keeping 4470.7 2613.0 +71.1%
Commitments from bilateral contracts 20 861.7 24 4731 -14.8%
Credit memo accounts 10432.2 136129 -23.4%
Total 53 159.7 52 742.7 +0.8%




NBG Profit and Loss Account

€ millions Notes 2001 2000 +%
Interest receivable and similar income 21. 2962.3 3831.2 -24.6%
Interest payable and similar charges 22. (2 065.2) (3206.2) -35.6%
Net interest income 897.1 725.0 +23.7%
Income from securities 23 68.5 70.6 -3.0%
Commissions receivable 24. 271.8 283.0 -4.0%
Commissions payable 25. (47.3) (37.3) +26.8%
Net profit on financial operations 26. 352.4 700.9 -49.7%
Other operating income 27. 15.7 13.9 +12.8%
Total operating income 1558.2 1756.1 -11.3%
Staff costs 28. (597.6) (568.2) +5.2%
Other administrative expenses 29. (192.8) (181.2) +6.4%
Profit on ordinary activities before provisions 767.8 1006.7 -23.7%
Fixed assets depreciation 30. (79.6) (67.3) +18.3%
Other operating charges (11.6) (9.9) +17.2%
Provisions for doubtful debts (117.4) (111.5) +5.3%
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 559.2 818.0 =31.7%
Extraordinary income 31. 30.3 52.2 -42.0%
Extraordinary charges 32. (13.6) (14.2) -4.2%
Extraordinary profit 33. 71.6 186 +285.5%
Profit before tax 647.5 874.6 -26.0%
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Appropriation Account

€ millions 2001 2000
Profit before tax 647.5 874.6
Prior years' retained earnings brought forward 67.5 0.3
Less: Prior years’ tax liabilities - (5.6)
Distributable reserves 59.3 -
774.3 869.3
Less:
1. Income tax (174.4) (217.2)
2. Other taxes not included in operating expenses (3.0) (2.3)
Distributable profit 596.9 649.8
Appropriation of profit:
1. Statutory reserve 23.0 325
2. Dividend 2509 247.7
3. Reserve for own shares 14 -
8. Tax- exempt reserves 45.3 235.7
Bb.Special tax reserves 727 57.5
7. Board of Directors’ fees 0.1 0.1
7a.Staff bonus 17.0 8.8
8. Retained earnings carried forward 186.5 67.5
596.9 649.8




Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 1 Accounting policies

The Bank’s accounting policies are in accordance with the provisions of PD 384/31.12.92
relating to the Greek Chart of Accounts and the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in
Greece in conformity with practices and rules prescribed by regulatory authorities.

(a) Provision for loan losses and non performing loans

Specific provision is made for loans whose recoverability is considered doubtful. Management’s
evaluation for the provision required is based on the Bank’s past loan loss experience, known
and inherent risks in the portfolio, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to
repay, the estimated value of the underlying collateral and current economic conditions. Interest
ceases to accrue for accounts for which there has been no payment of interest or repayment of
capital for a period of twelve months after the due date and collection is considered doubtful.

(b) Investment valuation

Investments in securities are stated at cost or market; whichever is lower on an aggregate
portfolio basis.

(c) Fixed assets valuation

Premises, equipment and other fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation,
except for land and buildings, which are stated at revalued prices less accumulated
depreciation. Depreciation is calculated according to the straight-line method on the basis of the
estimated useful life of the related assets, with the exception of land. Land and buildings are
revalued in accordance with the relevant legislation. The revaluation is recorded directly to a
special reserve.

(d) Foreign currency translation

Assets and liabilittes denominated in foreign currencies are translated in accordance with
prevailing exchange rate at year end and the resultant exchange differences is carried to the
profit and loss account.

(e) Assets acquired through auctions

Assets acquired through auctions are classified as “foreclosed assets” in other assets and are
stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation.

(f) Income tax

The provision for income tax is computed on the basis of the applicable tax laws.

(g) Affiliated companies

Affiliated companies represent consolidated and unconsolidated subsidiaries.

(h) Financial instruments

Transactions undertaken for trading purposes, whether on behalf of customers or for the Bank's
account are valued at market. Gains and losses are included under “net profit on financial
operations”. Transactions entered into for hedging purposes are valued on the same basis as
the underlying assets and liabilities that are being hedged.
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Note 2 Cash in hand, balances with Central Bank

€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Cash in hand 473.0 419.8 +12.7%
Balances with Central Bank 1301.1 6 368.2 -79.6%
Other 326.9 111.8 +192.4%
Total 2101.0 6 899.8 -69.5%

Note 3 Loans and advances to credit institutions

€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Current account 7.0 78 -11.1%
Loans to credit institutions 335.8 296.8 +13.1%
Time deposits with domestic credit institutions 696.6 696.2 +0.1%
Time deposits with foreign credit institutions 5 496.1 22243 +147.1%
Overseas correspondents & other receivables 1126.7 1324.7 -14.9%
Total 7 662.2 4549.8 +68.4%

Note 4 Loans and advances fo customers

€ millions 2001 2000 %
Consumer credit 1776.7 12523 +41.9%
Residential mortgage credit 4613.6 3700.3 +24.7%
Commercial loans - private sector 6215.6 6 313.2 -1.5%

Loans to the public sector, the Government & municipal

. 1159.6 1023.7 +13.3%
enterprises

Total domestic loans 13 765.5 12 289.5 +12.0%
Private sector loans 1433.9 1370.7 +4.6%
I;taerlzrtic;ge public sector, the foreign Government & municipal 10196 1158.0 12.0%
Total loans before provisions 16 219.0 14 818.2 +9.5%
Advances to customers other than loans 169.2 148.6 +13.9%
Total advances and loans to customers 16 388.2 14 966.8 +9.5%
Provisions (783.9) (759.3) +3.2%
Total 15 604.3 14 207.5 +9.8%

Non performing loans in 2001 amounted to € 1 137 millions compared to € 1 171 millions in
2000. The loans portfolio comprised:

€ millions 2001 2000 1%
Loans
Performing 15081.5 13 646.7 +10.5%
Non performing 1137.5 1171.5 -2.9%
16 219.0 14 818.2 +9.5%
Corporate bonds 1908.0 747.4 +155.3%
Total loans and corporate bonds 18 127.0 15 565.6 +16.5%
Provisions 783.9 759.3 +3.2%
NPLs/ Gross Loans (%) 7.0% 7.9% -90 bps
net NPLs/ Gross Loans (%} 2.2% 2.8% -60 bps

Provision coverage (%) 68.9% 64.8% +410 bps




Note 5 Provisions for doubtful debts

Balance FX Write-offs  Provisions Balance
€ millions 31.12.2000 revaluation 2001 2001 31.12.2001
Provisions L. 396/68 430.2 (17.4) 111.4 524.2
Provisions L. 1974/91 234.9 (72.4) 162.5
Total domestic 665.1 (89.8) 111.4 686.7
Provisions on foreign
branches 94.2 1.7 (3.6) 4.9 97.2
Total 759.3 1.7 (93.4) 116.3 783.9

Note 6 Debt securities and other fixed-income securities

€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Government bonds:

Greek Government 12771.9 12 330.0 +3.6%
Other sovereigns 169.3 281.4 -39.8%
12941.2 126114 +2.6%

Corporate & bank bonds:
Greek corporations 331.5 326.8 +1.4%
Foreign corporations 1206.4 289.6 +316.6%
Greek banks 80.6 50.5 +59.6%
Foreign banks 289.5 80.5 +259.6%
1908.0 747.4 +155.3%
Supranationals ‘ 249.9 1262 +98.0%
Total 15 099.1 13 485.0 +12.0%

Note 7 Shares and Participations

€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Mutual funds 343.0 195.2 +75.7%
Shares 209.0 205.8 +1.6%
Participations interests 296.3 290.7 +1.9%
Participations in affiliated undertakings 1668.6 15755 +5.9%
Total 2516.9 2267.2 +11.0%

Note 8 Intangible assets

€ miflions 2001 2000 %
Establishment cost 3.8 3.6 +5.6%
Software and reorganization expenses 124.4 91.0 +36.7%
Mortgage Bank merger good will 38.6 38.7 -0.3%
VAT on capital expenditures 355 23.3 +52.4%
Other intangible assets 6.5 5.7 +14.0%
Intangible assets before amortization 208.8 162.3 +28.7%
Amortization (108.6) (70.3) +54.5%
Total 100.2 92.0 +8.9%
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Note 9 Tangible assets

Furniture

computers

and other
€ millions Land Buildings equipment Other Total
Cost as at 31.12.00 171.7 2436 2139 9.5 638.7
Improvements & Additions 2001 3.2 18.0 41.0 0.7 62.9
Disposal 2001 (3.3) (0.6) (6.7) (0.2) (10.8)
Transfers 2001 (1.8) 0.8 (1.6) (0.4) (3.0)
Total 31.12.01 169.8 261.8 246.6 9.6 687.8
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.00 1791 136.0 5.7 320.8
Depreciation 2001 11.4 323 0.9 44.6
Disposal 2001 (0.3) (3.5) (0.1) (3.9)
Transfers 2001 (1.0) (2.1) 0.4) (3.5)
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.01 189.2 162.7 6.1 358.0
Net book value 31.12.01 169.8 72.6 83.9 3.5 329.8

Note 10 Own shares and bonds

Own shares are part of Treasury stock and are used for f_utures hedging in the FTSE ASE-20

stock exchange index.

Note 11 Other assets

€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Fixed assets acquired through auctions 101.4 128.2 -20.9%
Tax prepayments and other recoverable taxes 179.7 176.4 +1.9%
Suspense accounts and other assets 1694.8 2600  +551.8%
Total 1975.9 564.6 +250.0%
Note 12 Prepayments and accrued income
€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Prepayments 182.8 148.4 +23.2%
Accrued income 129.4 65.5 +97.6%
Total ’ 312.2 213.9 +46.0%
Note 13 Amounts owed to credit institutions
€ millions 2001 2000 1%
Deposits by credit institutions:
Current accounts 143.1 231.2 -38.1%
Time deposits 29151 16574 +75.9%
3058.2 1888.6 +61.9%
Amounts owed to the Central Bank 68.4 77.5 -11.7%
Total 3 126.6 1966.1 +59.0%




Note 14 Amounts owed to customers

€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Current accounts 3698.6 2469.5 +49.8%
Savings accounts 20942.7 18 555.8 +12.9%
Time deposits 9386.7 118125 -20.5%
Other deposits 273.0 255.0 +7.1%
Total deposits 34 301.0 33092.8 +3.7%
Repos 5873.4 3361.1 +74.7%
Other amounts due to customers 359.6 3271 +9.9%
Total 40 534.0 36 781.0 +10.2%

Note 15 Debts evidenced by certificates

The account includes Bank bonds, worth € 51.6 million, issued by the former National
Mortgage Bank.

Note 16 Other liabilities

€ millions 2001 2000 %
Tax & duties payable 2343 316.2 -257%
Amounts owed to pension funds 82 45 +37.8%
Amounts arising from collections on behalf of third parties - 4381 283.0 +54.8%
Dividends payable 260.8 2585.7 +2.0%
Other liabilities 4571 718.8 -36.4%
Total 1396.5 1577.2 -11.5%

Note 17 Accrued and deferred income

€ millions 2001 2000 1%
Accruals 144.6 79.4 +82.1%
Deferred expenses 80.4 100.9 -20.3%
Total 225.0 180.3 +24.8%

Note 18 Provisions for liabilities, charges and general banking risks

€ milfions 2001 2000 %
Provisions for employee pensions and similar obligations 1.5 0.6 +150.0%
Provisions for taxes other than income tax 3.9 8.0 -51.3%
Other provisions 9.8 9.5 +3.2%
Total provisions 15.2 18.1 -16.0%
Provisions for general banking risks 8.9 6.5 +6.2%
Total 221 24.6 -10.2%

Note 19 Subordinated liabilities

NBG Finance Plc, a subsidiary of NBG, in accordance with the agreement signed on 24 June
1997, provided to NBG a subordinated debt totaling USD 198 352 thousands. The loan matures
in June 2007 and is callable after five years from issuance. Balance outstanding was equivalent
to € 223 344 thousands. '
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Note 20 Equity

Changes in equity are analyzed as follows (€ miilions):

Paid up premium

Share

Tax-
tat.

Extr.  exempt

Fixed
Own Fixed assets
share assets invest.

Retain. Mandat.

€ millions capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve subsidy Earnin. conv. bond Total

Balance

31.12.00 998.0 482.3 1193 172 6220 11486 0.6 67.6 60.0 25816

Capitalisation for

euro rounding 55.8 (24.6) (31.2)

(NBG)

Convertible bond

(NBG) 29.1 309 (60.0)

Cancellation of

bonds (NBG) (20.1)  (2228) (251.9)

Cancellation of

own shares (27.5) (229.9) (257.4)

(NBG)

Distribution of

profits 2001 23.0 118.1 1.4 186.5 329.0

(NBG)

Free shares

(NBG) 3.0 3.0

Prior years'

distributable (54.6) (4.7 (67.6) {126.9)

reserves (NBG)

Other (11.4) (0.3) (1.7

Balance at 10263 359 1423 626 7240 14 864 03 1865 2265.7

31.12.01

Note 21 Interest receivable and similar income
€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Interest income from loans 1029.8 11524 -10.6%
Interest income from interbank placements 1219.2 1594.8 -23.6%
Interest income from bonds 705.3 11374 -38.0%
Other interest income 8.0 46.6 -82.8%
Total 2962.3 3931.2 -24.6%

Note 22 Interest payable and similar charges
€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Interest expenses on customer deposits 936.3 1533.6 -38.9%
Interest expenses on interbank deposits 896.0 1359.7 -34.1%
Interest expenses on Repos 171.1 233.5 -26.7%
Leoan and deposit contributions 54.0 58.4 -7.5%
Other interest payments 7.8 21.0 -62.6%
Total 2 065.2 3206.2 -35.6%




Note 23 Income from securities

€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Dividend income from shares 29 9.1 -68.1%
Dividend income from participating interests 5.6 3.6 +55.6%
Dividend income from affiliated undertakings 516 47.4 +8.9%
Income from Global Treasury Trading Portfolio 8.4 10.5 -20.0%
Total 68.5 70.6 -3.0%
Note 24 Commissions receivable
.~ € millions 2001 2000 +%
Retail banking " 94.8 64.5 +47.0%
Business credit @ 47.7 45.1 +5.8%
Mutual fund management 20.0 207 -32.7%
Other ® 74.8 77.2 -3.1%
237.3 216.5 +9.6%
investment banking 345 66.5 -48.1%
Total 271.8 283.0 -4.0%
™ commissions on mortgages and consumer foans, credit cards and retail deposits.
@ commissions on granting of business loans, letters of guarantee, import-export, and corporate deposits.
® commissions on fund transfers, FX transactions and other intermediation charges.
@ Commissions on investment operations, custodian services, and brokerage.
Note 25 Commission payable
€ millions 2001 2000 1%
Consumer factoring 10.5 10.5 -
Credit cards 29.4 225 +30.7%
Brokerage 3.0 07 +328.6%
Other 4.4 36 +22.2%
Total 47.3 37.3 +26.8%
Note 26 Net profit on financial operations
€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Bond trading 283.3 271.4 +4.4%
Foreign exchange trading 25.4 79.1 -67.9%
Derivatives hedging (1.6) (49.4) -96.8%
307.1 301.1 +2.0%
Equity trading 45.3 399.8 -88.7%
Total 352.4 700.9 -49.7%
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Note 27 Other operating income

€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Income from other activites " 6.6 55  +20.0%
Rentals 58 52 +11.5%
Third parties services 1.9 1.8 +5.6%
Rentals on safe deposit boxes 1.4 14 -
Total 15.7 13.9 +12.9%
™) Mainly Wages of detached personnel

Note 28 Staff costs
€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Salaries and wages 392.2 371.6 +5.5%
Social Security Contributions 146.3 1404 +4.2%
Supplementary Security Contributions 31.6 29.3 +7.8%
Other staff costs 27.5 26.9 +2.2%
Total 597.6 568.2 +5.2%

Note 29 Other administrative expenses
€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Taxes & Duties 30.7 37.6 -18.4%
Telecommunication 26.5 247 +7.3%
Rentals 20.6 19.3 +6.7%
Professional services 34.1 28.7 +18.8%
Credit card and consumer loan servicing 14.7 12.4 +18.5%
Repairs and maintenance expenses 13.3 1.7 +13.7%
Promotion and advertisement expenses 16.2 12.2 +32.8%
Traveling expenses 6.8 55 +23.6%
Insurance premiums — storage fees 5.1 3.4 +50.0%
Subscriptions 3.5 3.6 -2.8%
Miscellaneous expenses 13.6 11.6 +17.2%
Utilities expenses 7.7 10.5 -26.7%
Total 192.8 181.2 +6.4%

Note 30 Fixed assets depreciation
€ millions 2001 2000 %
Electronic equipment 289 234 +23.5%
Software 216 17.9 +20.7%
Buildings, furniture and other fixed assets 18.1 15.9 +13.8%
Reorganisation expenses 3.3 2.4 +37.5%
Goodwill (merger with National Mortgage Bank) 7.7 7.7 -
Total 79.6 67.3 +18.3%




Note 31 Extraordinary income

€ millions 2001 2000 %
Extraordinary & non-operating income 2.6 11.3 -77.0%
Income received in prior periods 25.0 39.0 -35.9%
Income from prior years’ provisions 2.7 19 +42.1%
Total 30.3 52.2 -42.0%
Note 32 Extraordinary charges
€ millions 2001 2000 1%
Extraordinary & non-operating charges 0.2 0.9 -77.8%
Charges relating to prior periods 11.9 11.9 -
Provisions for extraordinary risks 1.5 0.9 +66.7%
Depreciation not included in operating cost - 0.5 -100.0%
Total 13.6 14.2 -4.2%
Note 33 Extraordinary profits
€ millions 2001 2000 %
Profit on sale of real estate 65.1 19.0 +242.6%
Other extraordinary profit 6.5 (0.4) -
Total 71.6 18.6 +284.9%
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8. Financial Statements of the NBG Group




8.1 Group financial analysis

Group return on average equity (after tax)
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The net interest margin in 1998, 1999 and 2000 has
been adjusted without gains on bond trading to

facilitate comparison,

Review

¢ NBG Group profit before tax presented a
28.8% decline in 2001, totaling € 698.7
million compared with € 980.6 million in
2000. This decline was due to the € 421.1
million reduction in gains on equity
trading. If the latter resuits (2001: € 64.9
million, 2000: €486.0 million) are
excluded from the comparison, Group
profit before tax in 2001 presents growth
of 20.8%.

The lack of gains on share trading in 2001
led the Group’s return on average equity
lower relative to 2000 (2001: 18.7%, 2000:
27.3%).

There was a similar trend in the Group's
return on average assets, which returned
to the levels recorded in 1998. This
follows the historic highs of 1999 and
2000, years in which the Group posted
gains in stocks and bonds deriving from
the convergence of the Greek economy.

The group cost/income ratio stood at
60.4% in 2001, reflecting primarily the
reduction in  income on financial
operations, as well as the cost of
introducing the euro.

e There was a substantial increase in net
interest margin, which rose to 2.43%
(2000: 2.19%). Gains on bond trading are
not included in interest margin.

The total assets of the Group rose to
€ 52.8 billion compared with € 48.6 billion
in 2000. This increase was due principally
to the growth in the loan and corporate
bond portfolio.

The growth in assets in 2001 was
financed mainly by customer deposits at
the Group's banks, which totalled €45
billion at 31 December 2001.

+ Group equity dropped markedly, by 19%,
due to the two reductions in the parent
Bank's share capital.

e Earnings per share in 2001 amounted to
€ 2.12 compared with € 3.23 in 2000.
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Breakdow n of Group income 2001
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Results of operation

Total operating income declined by 11.3% in
2001. If gains on equity trading are excluded
from the comparison, Group operating
income shows growth of 10.6% over the
year. The 22.1% increase in net interest
income, which totalled €1 111.0 million
compared with € 910.3 million in 2000, was
a major contributing factor to the
impravement in operating income. Net
commissions, which totalled € 372.9 million
(2000: € 405.8 million), presented a decline
of 8.1%. This was due to conditions in the
stock market, which impacted negatively on
capital market fees and commissions. If this
item is isolated from the calculation, the
remaining fees and commissions present an
increase of 3.2%, at € 312.2 million (2000:
€ 302.6 million). Mutual fund management
commissions also displayed a substantial
decline of 48%, again affected by the Greek
stock market climate. Profit on financial
operations fell by 51.3%, reflecting the
significant decline in gains on equity trading.
If gains on equity trading are isolated from
the calculation, the remaining profit on
financial operations (deriving principally from
bond trading) presents an increase of 3%.
The Group’s improved income mix is
illustrated in the diagram, where non-trading
income represents more than 80% of
income in 2001, compared with 63% in
2000.

Total Group operating expenses in 2001
stood at € 1004.6 million compared with
€ 345.6 million in 2000, up 6.2%. This can
be considered satisfactory when compared
with inflation in Greece (3.4%), output
growth {4.1%), growth in retail banking and
the cost of launching the euro.

Balance sheet

The € 4.3 billion growth in the Group’s
Balance Sheet in 2001 reflects the
increased participation, from 37% to 39%, of
lending and corporate bonds in total Group
assets. This growth was accompanied by a
corresponding reduction in the participation
of government and other bonds from 29% in
2000 to 28% in 2001.

Group equity at 31 December 2001 stood at
€ 2 578.4 million, down by € 606.5 million.
This reflects the two  successive
cancellations of 12 922 196 own shares of

the Bank (€ 509 million) and the € 155 million reduction in minority rights.




8.2 Financial statements

Group Balance Sheet

€ millions Notes 2001 2000 +%

ASSETS

Cash in hand, balances with Central Bank 2. 24818 7210.8 -65.6%
Treasury bills and other bills 180.5 772 +133.8%
Loans and advances to credit institutions 3 75403 44714 +68.6%
Reverse repos 1963.8 263.0 +646.7%
Loans and advances to customers 4. 192518 17 765.2 +8.4%
Less: Provisions for doubtful debts 5. (1009.4) (962.7) +4.9%
Debt securities and other fixed-income securities 6. 169218 15222.9 +11.2%
Shares and other variable yield securities 934.6 1063.3 -12.1%
Participating interests 327.9 3171 +3.4%
Shares in affiliated undertakings 814.7 8159 -0.1%
Intangible assets 7. 124.2 1111 +11.8%
Fixed assets 8 666.5 585.2 +13.9%
Own shares and bonds 192.0 712.4 -73.0%
Other assets 9. 21013 6493  +223.6%
Prepayments and accrued income 10. 3484 265.2 +31.4%
Total 52 840.1 48 567.3 +8.8%
LIABILITIES

Amounts owed to credit institutions 71. 33199 21387 +55.2%
Amounts owed to customers 12. 448126 40 8891 +9.6%
Debts evidenced by certificates 13, 86.5 114.5 -24.5%
Other liabilities 14. 15169 1748.1 -13.2%
Accruals and deferred income 75. 260.7 231.0 +12.9%
Provisions for liabilities and charges 16. 50.2 57.7 -13.0%
Provisions for general banking risks 16. 9.5 9.1 +4.4%
Subordinated liabilities 17. 205.4 194.2 +5.8%
Equity 18. 25784 3184.9 -19.0%
Total 52 840.1 48 567.3 +8.8%
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Group Equity

€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Paid-up capital 1026.4 998.0 +2.8%
Share premium account 36.0 482.3 -92.5%
Reserves ] 11991 1184.0 +1.3%
Fixed assets revaluation reserve 91.8 124.8 -26.4%
Fixed assets investment subsidy 0.7 1.1 -36.4%
Retained earnings 343.7 238.7 +44.0%
Consolidation differences (340.3) (280.0) +21.5%
Minority interests 221.0 376.0 -41.2%
Mandatorily convertible bond (L. 2441/96) - 60.0 -100.0%
Total 25784 3184.9 -19.0%
Group Off- balance sheet items

€ millions 2001 2000 %
Contingent liabilities:

From acceptance and endorsement of securities 17.8 25.0 -28.8%
* From guarantees and assets pledged as collateral 17 4171 12 567.0 +38.6%
Comrﬁitments arising from sale and repurchase agreements 5.2 4.8 +8.3%
Other off-balance sheet items:

Items in custody and safe keeping 5788.5 3435.0 +68.5%

Commitments from bilateral contracts 221916 26 5253 -18.3%

Credit memo accounts 11 628.0 14 329.0 -19.5%
Total 56 948.2 56 886.1 +0.1%




Group Profit & Loss Account

€ millions Notes 2001 2000 +%

Interest receivable and similar income 19.  3336.9 44071 -24.3%
Interest payable and similar charges 20. (2225.9) (3 496.8) -36.3%
Net interest income 1111.0 910.3  +22.1%
Income from securities 21. 39.9 47.7 -16.4%
Commissions receivable 22 3729 405.8 -8.1%
Commissions payable _ 23. (33.0) (37.9) -12.9%
Net profit on financial operations . 24, 390.2 801.8 -51.3%
Other operating income . 25. 32.0 29.1 +10.0%
Income ‘ 1913.0 2 156.8 -11.3%
Staff costs . 2 (721.5) (684.5)  +5.4%
Other administrative expenses 27. (283.1) (261.1) +8.4%
Profit on ordinary activities before provisions 908.4 1211.2 -25.0%
Fixed assets depreciation . 28. (138.0) (118.5) +16.5%
Other operating charges (12.9) (12.0) +7.5%
Provisions for doubtful debts (174.4) (144.8)  +20.4%
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 583.1 935.9 -37.7%
Extraordinary income . 29, 48.8 67.0 -27.2%
Extraordinary charges : 30. (17.5) (20.4) -14.2%
Extraordinary profit 31. 93.8 36.1 +159.8%
Profit (before tax and minority interésts) 708.2 1018.6 -30.5%
Minority interests (9.5} (38.0) -75.0%
Profit (before tax) . 698.7 980.6 -28.7%
Taxes (214.1) (259.7) -17.6%
Prior years’ tax liabilities 4.7) (8.7) -46.0%
Minorities taxes 39 55 -29.1%

Group Profit (after tax) , 483.8 717.7 -32.6%
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 1 Accounting policies

The Group’s accounting policies are in accordance with codified Law 2190/1920 on Societes
Anonymes and the provisions of PD 384/31.12.92 relating to the Greek Chart of Accounts and
the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in Greece in conformity with rules prescribed by
regulatory authorities.

(a) Provisions for loans and advances

Specific provision is made for loans whose recoverability is considered doubtful. Management’s
evaluation for the provision required is based on the Group's past loan loss experience, known
and inherent risks in the portfolio, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to
repay, the estimated value of the underlying collateral and current economic conditions. Interest
ceases to accrue for accounts for which there has been no payment of interest or repayment of
capital for a maximum period of twelve months after the due date and collection is considered
doubtful. The non-banking companies of the Group form provisions for debt that is considered
doubtful.

(b) Investment valuation

Investments in securities are stated at cost or fair market value; whichever is lower on an
aggregate portfolio basis.

(c) Fixed assets valuation

Premises, equipment and other fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation,
except for land and buildings, which are stated at revalued prices less accumulated
depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method on the basis of the
estimated useful life of the related assets, with the exception of land. Land and buildings are
revalued in accordance with the relevant legislation. The revaluation is recorded directly to a
reserve.

(d) Foreign currency translation

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated in accordance with
prevailing exchange rates at year end and the resultant exchange difference is carried to the
profit and loss account.

(e) Assets acquired through auctions

Assets acquired through auctions are classified as “foreclosed assets” in other assets and are
stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation.

(f) Income tax

The provision for income tax is computed on the basis of the applicable tax laws.
(g) Affiliated undertakings

Affiliated undertakings represent unconsolidated subsidiaries.

(h) Financial instruments

Transactions undertaken for trading purposes, whether on behalf of customers or for the
Group's account are valued at market. Gains and losses are included under “Net profit on
financial operations”. Transactions entered into for hedging purposes are valued on the same
basis as the underlying assets and liabilities that are being hedged.




Note 2 Cash in hand, balances with Central Bank

€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Cash in hand 700.4 490.7 +42.7%
Balances with Central Bank 1443.7 6 598.2 -78.1%
Other 337.8 121.9 +1771%
Total 24819 7 210.8 -65.6%

Note 3 Loans and advances to credit institutions

€ millions 2001 2000 +%
Current account 74.4 419 +77.8%
Loans to credit institut